
 

 

 
VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 

Proposed Regular Council Meeting 
Agenda 

Glenwood Community Hall (90 Main Avenue) 
Thursday, December 09, 2021 at 7:00pm 

 
 

Page 1 of 2 

To access the supporting documents to this agenda, first download the agenda to your own 
computer/device, then look for them as attachments to the .pdf agenda document. 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Adoption of Agenda 

 
3. Adoption of Previous Minutes: 

a) 2021.12.06 Public Hearing Council Meeting Minutes 
 

4. Delegations: 
a) Dan Magnus from ATCO presentation contract. 
b) How can we help you – Leisa Olson & Wayne Layton  
 

5. Items for Discussion and/or Action: 
a) Draft Bylaw #245-2021 Rates, Fees and Charges 
b) Draft Bylaw #260-2021 Bylaw officer- will be presented at the meeting 

 
6. Councillor Reports: 

• Mayor Allred 
• Deputy Mayor Holthe 
• Councillor Law 
• Councillor Lybbert 
• Councillor Peterson 

 
7. CAO Report: 

a) Grant info 
b) General update on Village 
c) Emergency Management training – Info to come in next week  

 
8. Financial Reports: 

a) Accounts Payable Cheques for November 2021 (20210392-20210401) 
b) Budget vs Actual Review November 2021 
c) Bank Reconciliation – Will be added to Thursday’s agenda 

 
9. Correspondence: 

a) 2021-12-03 – Southwest Mayors & Reeves Meeting 
b) CCES MINUTES Dec 2, 2021  
c) Mayors and Reeves November 2021 
d) MayorsCouncilsCongratsLetter_Dec2021 (1) 
e) MINUTES Dec 2, 2021 
f) November 5, 2021 Minutes 



Page 2 of 2 

g) ORRSC Periodical Inaugural Edition 
h) OWC Resignation November 26 2021 

 
10. Closed Meeting: 

a) Land, Legal or Labour Matters As per Section 24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act     
 

11. Adjournment: 










 6:01:00PM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2021-Dec-7Cheque Listing For Council


Page 1 of 1


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20210392 2021-11-01 KINAHAN, CARRIE


 20210393 2021-11-23 HALL, BRIAN PAYMENT  19.92


202111231 CREDIT BALANCE PAID SOLD  19.92 


 20210394 2021-11-30 HUNSPERGER, PERRY


 20210395 2021-11-30 EDWARDS, JANET


 20210396 2021-11-30 KINAHAN, CARRIE


 20210397 2021-11-30 PETERSON, MARK


 20210398 2021-11-30 HOLTHE , MILO


 20210399 2021-11-30 ALLRED, LINDA


 20210400 2021-11-30 LYBBERT, SANDY


 20210401 2021-11-30 LAW, STEVEN


*** End of Report ***


Total  13,257.06








 6:04:35PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 1 of 10


Tax Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-102 Taxes - Chinook Foundation (5,847.32) (5,829.16) (5,900.00) (5,729.13) (170.87)


1-00-00-00-00-103 Taxes - Non-Residential (52,143.99) (49,550.53) (53,200.00) (51,020.63) (2,179.37)


1-00-00-00-00-105 Taxes - Linear (14,004.13) (16,244.27) (14,300.00) (16,757.09)  2,457.09 


1-00-00-00-00-108 Taxes - Residential (227,298.55) (228,324.21) (231,800.00) (232,138.39)  338.39 


1-00-00-00-00-110 Taxes - M&E (22,805.99) (22,800.00) (23,300.00) (23,300.00)  0.00 


*        TOTAL Tax Revenue (322,099.98) (322,748.17) (328,500.00) (328,945.24) 445.24


General Government Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-590 Other Revenue from Own Sources (1,221.00) (1,050.00) (300.00) (384.51)  84.51 


1-12-00-00-00-410 Photocopy,Fax, etc Revenue (172.05) (223.65) (180.00) (751.35)  571.35 


1-12-00-00-00-433 Assessment Appeal Deposit (50.00)  0.00 (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


1-12-00-00-00-525 License - Business (280.00)  166.00 (240.00) (340.00)  100.00 


1-12-00-00-00-561 Xplornet (2,970.46) (3,020.80) (2,000.00) (2,849.61)  849.61 


1-00-00-00-00-510 Taxes - Penalties & Costs (1,893.08) (3,969.49) (4,000.00) (3,162.04) (837.96)


1-00-00-00-00-541 Franchise & Concession ATCO Revenue (18,354.44) (12,083.20) (18,400.00) (17,730.26) (669.74)


1-00-00-00-00-550 Return on Investments (5,804.40) (3,253.92) (3,500.00) (2,171.03) (1,328.97)


*        TOTAL General Gov't Revenue (30,745.43) (23,435.06) (28,720.00) (27,388.80) (1,331.20)


Operating Grant Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-748 Grant Misc (1,500.00) (89,517.16) (25,300.00) (2,700.00) (22,600.00)


1-00-00-00-00-751 Grants - ACP Intermunicipal (4,414.89)  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


1-00-00-00-00-843 Grant - MSI Operational (34,147.00) (31,607.00) (23,705.00) (31,063.00)  7,358.00 


*        TOTAL Operating Grant Revenue (40,061.89) (121,124.16) (49,005.00) (33,763.00) (15,242.00)







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 2 of 10


Protective Services Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-990 Other Rev - NSF,  Fines, Lease (35.00) (974.89) (200.00)  0.00 (200.00)


*        TOTAL Protective Services Rev (35.00) (974.89) (200.00) 0.00 (200.00)


Transportation Service Revenue


1-30-00-00-00-410 Equipment Pool Revenue (110.00) (276.79) (200.00)  0.00 (200.00)


1-32-00-00-00-591 Snow Removal Roads & Streets (400.00) (140.00) (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


*        TOTAL Trans Service Revenue (510.00) (416.79) (300.00) 0.00 (300.00)


Water Revenue


1-41-00-00-00-120 Water Connection Install (5,000.00) (9,000.00) (1,000.00) (30.00) (970.00)


1-41-00-00-00-121 Water On/Off Fee (270.00) (240.00) (100.00) (210.00)  110.00 


1-41-00-00-00-410 Sales - Water (123,579.31) (118,210.05) (120,400.00) (101,378.34) (19,021.66)


1-41-00-00-00-411 Water - Bulk Sales (3,578.42) (5,708.00) (3,000.00) (5,276.10)  2,276.10 


1-41-00-00-00-510 Water - Penalties & Costs (222.93) (359.10) (500.00) (539.59)  39.59 


*        TOTAL Water Revenue (132,650.66) (133,517.15) (125,000.00) (107,434.03) (17,565.97)


Irrigation Revenue


1-40-00-00-00-410 Sales - Irrigation (11,292.32) (16,809.76) (17,000.00) (23,800.00)  6,800.00 


*        TOTAL Irrigation Revenue (11,292.32) (16,809.76) (17,000.00) (23,800.00) 6,800.00


Sewer Revenue


1-42-00-00-00-120 Sewer Connection Install (2,000.00) (7,000.00) (1,000.00)  0.00 (1,000.00)


1-42-00-00-00-410 Sales - Sewer (22,578.00) (20,830.00) (21,400.00) (21,910.00)  510.00 


1-42-00-00-00-411 Sales - Sewer RV Dumping Station (3,126.35) (3,454.50) (3,000.00) (3,596.00)  596.00 


1-42-00-00-00-412 Sewer RV Campground Agreements (4,000.00) (2,125.00) (2,000.00) (2,025.00)  25.00 


*        TOTAL Sewer Revenue (31,704.35) (33,409.50) (27,400.00) (27,531.00) 131.00







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 3 of 10


Waste Management  Revenue


1-43-00-00-00-410 Sales - Solid Waste (12,992.00) (14,428.01) (14,000.00) (15,536.00)  1,536.00 


*        TOTAL Waste Mgmt Rev (12,992.00) (14,428.01) (14,000.00) (15,536.00) 1,536.00


Cemetery Revenue


1-56-00-00-00-410 Cemetery - Plots & Fees (1,130.00) (265.00) (600.00) (799.50)  199.50 


1-56-00-00-00-420 Cemetery - Donations (1,250.00) (504.19) (500.00) (696.49)  196.49 


1-56-00-00-00-430 Cemetery County Contribution  0.00 (2,293.55) (1,375.00) (4,228.61)  2,853.61 


*        TOTAL Cemetery Revenue (2,380.00) (3,062.74) (2,475.00) (5,724.60) 3,249.60


Recreation & Culture Revenue


1-74-02-00-00-560 Rentals Community Hall (1,988.75) (500.00) (1,000.00) (200.00) (800.00)


1-72-00-00-00-410 Sales & Services - Recreation (399.50)  0.00 (100.00) (100.00)  0.00 


1-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Revenue (45,806.31) (44,388.59) (40,200.00) (42,008.94)  1,808.94 


1-74-04-00-00-410 Pioneer Days funds-fireworks donations (2,950.00) (533.45) (3,000.00) (6,756.85)  3,756.85 


1-74-05-00-00-474 Post Office Rental Revenue (1,400.00) (2,200.00) (2,400.00) (2,200.00) (200.00)


*        TOTAL Rec & Culture Rev (52,544.56) (47,622.04) (46,700.00) (51,265.79) 4,565.79


Planning & Development Revenue


1-12-00-00-00-490 Permit - Dev/Compliance  415.00 (800.00) (200.00) (2,315.00)  2,115.00 


1-95-00-00-00-763 Transfers From Reserves - Capital  0.00  0.00 (5,000.00)  0.00 (5,000.00)


*        TOTAL Planning & Development R 415.00 (800.00) (5,200.00) (2,315.00) (2,885.00)


**       TOTAL Revenue (636,601.19) (718,348.27) (644,500.00) (623,703.46) (20,796.54)







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 4 of 10


Council Expenses


2-11-00-00-00-153 Council Honorariums  10,700.00  6,300.00  11,000.00  8,100.00  2,900.00 


2-11-00-00-00-213 Council Travel  3,826.16  2,049.25  6,000.00  770.91  5,229.09 


2-11-00-00-00-520 Council Misc  2,322.89  995.10  4,000.00  1,537.59  2,462.41 


*        TOTAL Council Expenses 16,849.05 9,344.35 21,000.00 10,408.50 10,591.50


Administration Expenses


2-12-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Admin  84,671.54  88,743.01  70,300.00  69,334.15  965.85 


2-12-00-00-00-113 Travel & Training - CAO  2,895.42  1,741.51  4,250.00  593.54  3,656.46 


2-12-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Admin  6,119.31  5,842.04  5,000.00  5,796.70 (796.70)


2-12-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Admin  15,592.87  16,205.25  12,600.00  13,216.23 (616.23)


2-12-00-00-00-142 Workers Compensation Admin  2,551.22  2,928.52  3,000.00  2,444.67  555.33 


2-12-00-00-00-150 Election & Census  0.00  329.50  2,000.00  510.93  1,489.07 


2-12-00-00-00-210 Travel & Training - ADMIN  1,366.96  599.15  2,000.00  551.67  1,448.33 


2-12-00-00-00-215 Telephone Land Line Admin  1,044.19  1,046.03  1,500.00  1,093.69  406.31 


2-12-00-00-00-216 Fax Land Line Admin  891.36  906.26  1,000.00  755.21  244.79 


2-12-00-00-00-220 Advert, Printing, Memberships Admin  5,863.37  6,935.61  6,600.00  6,992.82 (392.82)


2-12-00-00-00-230 Professional & Consulting Admin  34,959.05  28,262.62  31,500.00  27,863.12  3,636.88 


2-12-00-00-00-235 Postage & Freight Admin  2,056.94  1,865.66  2,500.00  1,455.29  1,044.71 


2-12-00-00-00-270 Misc Expense Admin  1,510.48  1,483.48  600.00  835.69 (235.69)


2-12-00-00-00-274 Insurance Admin  13,446.10  14,241.85  14,100.00  14,657.05 (557.05)


2-12-00-00-00-280 Reg Fees Land Titles  90.00  65.00  200.00  110.00  90.00 


2-12-00-00-00-290 Office Bldg Maintenance Admin  505.83  514.53  800.00  16.48  783.52 


2-12-00-00-00-300 Assessor Fees Admin  7,927.50  7,910.00  8,400.00  5,967.51  2,432.49 


2-12-00-00-00-510 Office Expense Admin  4,758.90  2,256.04  2,750.00  3,571.40 (821.40)


2-12-00-00-00-520 Web Hosting Admin  1,250.00  1,415.71  1,300.00  1,250.00  50.00 


2-12-00-00-00-540 Administration Utilities Power  2,685.91  2,667.05  2,750.00  2,885.55 (135.55)


2-12-00-00-00-541 Administration Utilities Gas  1,413.95  1,372.11  1,500.00  1,112.72  387.28 


2-12-00-00-00-810 Bank Charges Admin  2,729.48  1,753.36  2,750.00  1,121.47  1,628.53 


2-12-00-00-00-999 Adm - Amortization  178,644.74  180,762.80  228,900.00  0.00  228,900.00 


*        TOTAL Administration Expenses 372,975.12 369,847.09 406,300.00 162,135.89 244,164.11







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 5 of 10


Protective Services Expenses


2-23-00-00-00-110 Fire & Emergency Management wages  250.00  150.00  1,000.00  150.00  850.00 


2-23-00-00-00-130 Employer source deduction Fire  0.00  0.00  50.00  0.00  50.00 


2-23-00-00-00-270 Fire Misc  361.63  1,196.02  1,000.00  655.70  344.30 


2-23-00-00-00-510 Fire Goods & Supplies  0.00  8.38  50.00  8.38  41.62 


2-23-00-00-00-540 Fire Utilities Power  2,092.38  2,151.83  1,950.00  2,070.54 (120.54)


2-23-00-00-00-541 Fire Utilities Gas  2,404.72  2,381.70  1,900.00  1,802.56  97.44 


2-23-00-00-00-750 Fire Requisition  6,104.64  6,125.70  11,500.00  5,888.36  5,611.64 


2-23-00-00-00-760 Fire Dispatch Services  1,150.24  1,185.00  1,200.00  900.30  299.70 


2-23-00-00-00-770 Victim Services  600.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-23-00-00-00-260 Emergency Management Goods and Services  0.00  0.00  3,300.00  1,352.34  1,947.66 


*        TOTAL Protective Services Exp 12,963.61 13,198.63 22,450.00 12,828.18 9,621.82


Shop Expenses


2-30-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Equip Pool  3,101.60  3,157.23  2,800.00  2,980.54 (180.54)


2-30-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Equip Pool  197.70  204.81  200.00  217.03 (17.03)


2-30-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Equip Pool  1,101.66  1,071.90  200.00  1,076.94 (876.94)


2-31-00-00-00-110 Village Maintenance Wages  15,508.12  15,785.82  13,900.00  14,902.89 (1,002.89)


2-31-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions V-Main  988.33  1,024.23  900.00  1,085.24 (185.24)


2-31-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefits Vlg Maint  970.94  704.18  1,000.00  1,015.18 (15.18)


2-31-00-00-00-250 Vlg Maint Contracted Services  228.64  150.00  5,000.00  1,512.47  3,487.53 


2-31-00-00-00-510 Vlg Maint Tools, Hardware, Op  993.12  985.81  2,000.00  570.26  1,429.74 


2-31-00-00-00-524 Vlg Maint Equip Supplies  2,298.06  363.54  2,000.00  124.68  1,875.32 


2-31-00-00-00-526 Vlg Maint Equip Supply Tractor  920.01  736.14  800.00  1,734.00 (934.00)


2-31-00-00-00-527 Vlg Maint Fuel  2,547.96  931.71  3,200.00  1,427.38  1,772.62 


2-31-00-00-00-550 Safety Gear  151.32  333.57  500.00  32.99  467.01 


2-32-00-00-00-215 Telephone Shop  589.30  798.28  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-32-00-00-00-217 Cell Phone Foreman  1,292.00  1,072.59  900.00  761.33  138.67 


*        TOTAL Shop Expenses 30,888.76 27,319.81 33,400.00 27,440.93 5,959.07







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 6 of 10


Road & Street Expenses


2-32-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Streets & Roads  17,839.28  19,053.59  17,400.00  15,759.85  1,640.15 


2-32-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deduct Streets & Roads  1,041.20  1,198.92  1,100.00  1,117.64 (17.64)


2-32-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deduct Streets & Roads  970.94  724.90  1,200.00  1,015.21  184.79 


2-32-00-00-00-250 Streets & Roads Contracted Services  1,177.00  2,414.00  2,000.00  315.84  1,684.16 


2-32-00-00-00-260 Streets & Roads Goods & Servcies  482.62  3,534.43  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00 


2-32-00-00-00-530 Streets & Roads Maint Materials  3,001.28  1,333.69  11,000.00  167.96  10,832.04 


2-32-00-00-00-540 Streetlights  12,329.42  12,464.92  12,200.00  11,585.64  614.36 


*        TOTAL Road & Street Expenses 36,841.74 40,724.45 45,900.00 29,962.14 15,937.86


Irrigation Expenses


2-40-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Irrigation  8,534.35  8,870.61  7,000.00  5,926.11  1,073.89 


2-40-00-00-00-250 Irrg System Contracted Services  0.00  700.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-40-00-00-00-252 Irrg System Maint  973.75  312.16  750.00  179.33  570.67 


2-40-00-00-00-540 Irrg System Utilities Power  2,598.47  3,212.49  3,700.00  4,172.39 (472.39)


*        TOTAL Irrigation Expenses 12,106.57 13,095.26 11,950.00 10,277.83 1,672.17


Water Expenses


2-41-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Water  21,831.84  22,002.16  29,800.00  19,226.13  10,573.87 


2-41-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Water  1,763.93  1,891.36  2,700.00  1,687.98  1,012.02 


2-41-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Water  1,846.51  1,346.13  2,300.00  1,695.11  604.89 


2-41-00-00-00-210 Water - Seminars & Travel  3,553.10  2,046.86  3,000.00  681.23  2,318.77 


2-41-00-00-00-215 Telephone Water Plant  1,191.36  906.26  1,100.00  755.22  344.78 


2-41-00-00-00-250 Water Supply Contracted Services  12,015.10  17,733.46  11,000.00  10,671.31  328.69 


2-41-00-00-00-252 Water Supply Maint  2,451.60  4,134.23  3,000.00  5,646.28 (2,646.28)


2-41-00-00-00-270 Water Supply Misc  31.14  0.00  1,500.00  31.34  1,468.66 


2-41-00-00-00-510 Water Supply Goods & Service  4,464.17  6,753.58  6,500.00  3,595.96  2,904.04 


2-41-00-00-00-540 Water Supply Utilities Power  12,076.98  12,077.73  10,900.00  12,619.77 (1,719.77)


2-41-00-00-00-541 Water Supply Utilities Gas  3,545.23  3,994.76  3,900.00  3,123.22  776.78 


2-41-00-00-00-905 Water Billing Discount  3,655.62  3,902.56  3,500.00  4,637.20 (1,137.20)


*        TOTAL Water Expenses 68,426.58 76,789.09 79,200.00 64,370.75 14,829.25







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 7 of 10


Sewer Expenses


2-42-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Sewer  3,101.60  3,157.23  2,800.00  2,980.54 (180.54)


2-42-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Sewer  197.70  204.81  200.00  217.03 (17.03)


2-42-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Sewer  276.80  224.38  200.00  282.53 (82.53)


2-42-00-00-00-250 Sewer Contracted Services  2,481.70  10,375.80  5,250.00  210.06  5,039.94 


2-42-00-00-00-510 Sewer Goods & Services  0.00  0.00  250.00  80.23  169.77 


2-42-00-00-00-905 Sewer Billing Discount  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


*        TOTAL Sewer Expenses 6,057.80 13,962.22 8,950.00 3,770.39 5,179.61


Waste Management Expenses


2-43-00-00-00-250 Solid Waste Contracted Services  0.00  10,099.50  250.00  3,580.00 (3,330.00)


2-43-00-00-00-510 Solid Waste Goods & Services  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


2-43-00-00-00-750 Solid Waste Requisition - CMRSWA  7,792.56  8,187.56  9,339.00  8,674.20  664.80 


2-43-00-00-00-752 Requisition - County Transfer Station  3,126.80  4,050.48  4,100.00  4,234.02 (134.02)


*        TOTAL Waste Mgmt Expenses 10,919.36 22,337.54 13,939.00 16,488.22 (2,549.22)


Cemetery Expenses


2-56-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Cemetery  3,346.52  5,713.55  2,100.00  3,837.50 (1,737.50)


2-56-00-00-00-510 Cemetery Goods & Services  200.00  2,039.97  250.00  178.05  71.95 


2-56-00-00-00-540 Cemetery Utilities Power  1,006.25  1,012.86  1,100.00  984.33  115.67 


2-56-00-00-00-620 Cemetery Transfer to Reserves  0.00  0.00  500.00  1,057.14 (557.14)


*        TOTAL Cemetery Expenses 4,552.77 8,766.38 3,950.00 6,057.02 (2,107.02)


Planning & Development Expense


2-76-00-00-00-250 Development Contracted Services  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-76-00-00-00-251 Planning - GIS  1,681.12  7,115.10  1,730.00  5,595.24 (3,865.24)


2-76-00-00-00-252 ORRSC Requisition  3,863.00  0.00  3,800.00  18,500.00 (14,700.00)


*        TOTAL Planning & Dev Expenses 5,544.12 7,115.10 6,030.00 24,095.24 (18,065.24)







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 8 of 10


Parks & Recreation Expenses


2-62-00-00-00-201 Community Service Misc  0.00  19.05  500.00  176.55  323.45 


2-74-04-00-00-510 Pioneer Days Fireworks  3,150.00  0.00  3,000.00  6,160.60 (3,160.60)


2-72-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Parks & Rec  5,978.61  7,187.03  2,000.00  4,694.56 (2,694.56)


2-72-00-00-00-725 Recreation Expenses (Vlg USE ONLY)  1,142.36  31.58  3,500.00  236.27  3,263.73 


2-72-00-00-00-540 Recreation Utilities Power  1,064.68  1,076.29  1,000.00  1,029.78 (29.78)


2-72-00-00-00-541 Recreation Utilities Gas  855.88  881.23  800.00  759.36  40.64 


*        TOTAL Parks & Rec Expenses 12,191.53 9,195.18 10,800.00 13,057.12 (2,257.12)


Library Expenses


2-74-01-00-00-250 Library Contracted Services  886.57  2,086.75  1,000.00  125.00  875.00 


2-74-01-00-00-510 Library Goods and Services  10.45  75.13  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-01-00-00-750 Library Society Operating Support  15,000.00  15,000.00  15,000.00  15,000.00  0.00 


2-74-01-00-00-771 Requisition Chinook Arch Library  2,531.16  2,581.72  2,600.00  2,452.16  147.84 


*        TOTAL Library Expenses 18,428.18 19,743.60 19,100.00 17,577.16 1,522.84


Community Hall Expenses


2-74-02-00-00-110 Salaries and Wages Community Hall  1,275.00  350.00  2,800.00  0.00  2,800.00 


2-74-02-00-00-250 Community Hall Contracted Service  315.00  150.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-02-00-00-510 Community Hall Goods & Service  1,601.89  1,430.28  1,000.00  433.42  566.58 


2-74-02-00-00-540 Community Hall Utilities Power  2,108.79  2,328.34  1,500.00  1,885.90 (385.90)


2-74-02-00-00-541 Community Hall Utilities Gas  1,456.03  1,313.63  1,125.00  1,169.01 (44.01)


*        TOTAL Community Hall Expenses 6,756.71 5,572.25 6,925.00 3,488.33 3,436.67


Pioneer Parlour Expenses


2-74-03-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Pioneer Parlour  22,604.66  19,639.26  20,200.00  16,170.90  4,029.10 


2-74-03-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions PP  1,014.14  824.45  700.00  609.44  90.56 


2-74-03-00-00-250 Pioneer Parlour Contracted Services  1,432.00  332.00  1,500.00  0.00  1,500.00 


2-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Expenses (Bldg)  2,786.58  1,199.16  1,000.00  1,821.12 (821.12)


2-74-03-00-00-510 Pioneer Parlour Goods & Services  21,312.83  19,885.77  14,000.00  20,857.34 (6,857.34)


2-74-03-00-00-540 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Power  1,702.28  1,627.95  1,700.00  1,619.24  80.76 


2-74-03-00-00-541 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Gas  1,019.48  1,027.70  1,100.00  868.64  231.36 


2-74-03-00-00-810 Pioneer Parlour Merchant Fees  0.00  3,671.72  0.00  38.56 (38.56)


*        TOTAL Pioneer Parlour Expenses 51,871.97 48,208.01 40,200.00 41,985.24 (1,785.24)







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 9 of 10


Post Office Expenses


2-74-05-00-00-540 Post Office Utilities Power  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-05-00-00-541 Post Office Utilities Gas  0.00  0.00  375.00  0.00  375.00 


*        TOTAL Post Office Exp 0.00 0.00 875.00 0.00 875.00


Community Support Requisitions


2-26-00-00-00-100 Requisition - Policing  0.00  5,585.00  8,384.00  5,640.00  2,744.00 


2-62-00-00-00-206 Com Services: Beautification  1,788.75  119.31  0.00  213.06 (213.06)


2-62-00-00-00-208 Spring Glen Park Req/Exp/Donate  1,428.57  1,500.00  1,500.00  1,500.00  0.00 


2-62-00-00-00-209 Com Services: Glenwood Seniors Req  500.00  500.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-62-00-00-00-210 Com Services: FCSS Requisition  2,446.00  2,446.00  2,446.00  2,446.00  0.00 


2-62-00-00-00-750 Com Services: Farm Safety Ctr Donation  300.00  300.00  300.00  300.00  0.00 


2-72-00-00-00-750 Recreation Brd Expenses (Vlg DON'T USE )  801.01  0.00  500.00  194.00  306.00 


2-98-00-00-00-102 Req Chinook Foundation  5,870.52  5,828.54  5,900.00  5,733.49  166.51 


2-98-00-00-00-108 Req United Irrigation Dist  4,553.30  4,689.90  5,200.00  4,830.60  369.40 


2-98-00-00-00-115 Req School Foundation  71,341.78  71,145.90  72,600.00  35,572.95  37,027.05 


2-98-00-00-00-116 DESIGNATED INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 


(DIP)


 47.17  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-12-00-00-00-763 Operating Transfer to Reserves  0.00  0.00  40,001.00  0.00  40,001.00 


*        TOTAL Community Support Requis 89,077.10 92,114.65 137,331.00 56,430.10 80,900.90


**       TOTAL Expenses 756,450.97 777,333.61 868,300.00 500,373.04 367,926.96


***      TOTAL Revenues Over Expenses 119,849.78 58,985.34 223,800.00 (123,330.42) 347,130.42







 6:04:36PM


2021-Dec-7


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 10 of 10


Capital Grants Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-842 Grant - MSI Capital (91,802.29) (94,708.13) (236,900.00) (250,752.00)  13,852.00 


1-00-00-00-00-846 Grants - FGTF/NDCC  0.00 (119,000.00) (50,000.00)  0.00 (50,000.00)


*        TOTAL Cap Grants Rev (91,802.29) (213,708.13) (286,900.00) (250,752.00) (36,148.00)


**       TOTAL CAPITAL REVENUE (91,802.29) (213,708.13) (286,900.00) (250,752.00) (36,148.00)


Capital Expenses


2-23-00-00-00-762 Protective Serv-Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  30,000.00  15,082.48  14,917.52 


2-31-00-00-00-762 Vlg Maint - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  25,000.00  4,365.00  20,635.00 


2-32-00-00-00-762 Strts & Rds - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  10,000.00  4,405.00  5,595.00 


2-40-00-00-00-762 Irrigation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  5,000.00  3,200.00  1,800.00 


2-41-00-00-00-762 Water - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  206,900.00  63,756.74  143,143.26 


2-42-00-00-00-762 Sewer - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  15,000.00  0.00  15,000.00 


2-71-00-00-00-762 Parks & Recreation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  0.00  1,220.48 (1,220.48)


*        TOTAL Capital Expenses 0.00 0.00 291,900.00 92,029.70 199,870.30


**       TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENSES 0.00 0.00 291,900.00 92,029.70 199,870.30


***      Revenues Over Expense/Capital (91,802.29) (213,708.13) 5,000.00 (158,722.30) 163,722.30


*** End of Report ***








2021-12-03 – Southwest Mayors & Reeves Meeting 


 


Martin Shields, Member of Parliament for Bow River:  


 


Thank you for once again inviting me to be with you, regrettably I am unable to attend due to my 


commitments in the House of Commons. Nevertheless, it is important that we continue to strengthen 


inter-governmental relationships despite the ongoing challenges we face. 


I would like to highlight a few issues of concern as we begin this 44th Parliament. 


 


• Resumption of Parliament – Hybrid Format 


o A vote was passed to continue the hybrid format of the previous Parliament, which 


allows Members of Parliament to attend proceedings, speak, and vote through a virtual 


means. 


o Conservatives will continue to be in the House as often as possible – I hope the other 


parties will follow suit. 


 


• Energy industry rebounding in Alberta, but facing challenges with federal government 


o The push for net-zero as well as announcement by Prime Minister regarding capping 


emissions will hurt our industry. 


o There has been little recognition of what private industry is doing to mitigate emissions 


and revolutionize their practices to improve technologies 


o Messaging from the industry and governments alike needs to focus on how Canadian 


energy is the best in the world. 


o Ethically sourced, ethically produced, and held to the highest environmental standards. 


o Hydrogen – there is a large push for this net-zero emission industry in Alberta 


▪ 30 billion investment so far, and Alberta can take the lead on this file to make us 


world leaders in this industry 


• Bill C-4  


o On December 1st, Conservatives put forth motion for unanimous consent to push the bill 


to ban conversion therapy to the senate. Unanimous consent was granted, and the 


motion passed. 


o We wanted to get the bill back to the stage it was already at before the unnecessary 


election was called. 


• Rural economic development 


o Fight for broadband continues, we are pushing telecoms companies to build faster and 


wider, meaning coverage and access for the last farm gate. 


o We have appointed a Shadow Minister to expressly deal with this issue – as we believe 


it is crucial. 


• Deputy Shadow Minister Indigenous services  


o I am tremendously honoured to be appointed to this file 







o Will work to strengthen existing relationships with Indigenous Nations and build others 


around the country. 


o This file is extremely important and has issues that need to be resolved, as well as areas 


of potential growth – like tourism and economic development 


• Irrigation 


o More funding has been announced for this industry that greatly benefits our area. 


• Inflation – rising cost of living 


o The facts are clear, inflation is at a 20-year high, and prices are up for nearly every good 


available for purchase 


o Pre-pandemic spending set this path in motion and once the pandemic hit, the deficits 


ballooned. 


o Canada spent more money than any country in the G7 during this pandemic.  


o Yes, some initial supports were necessary due to government-imposed lockdowns – but 


the spending never stopped. 


o We are now seeing the results of this policy 


o Food, gas, housing, all becoming increasingly unaffordable. 


▪ Too many families are having to choose which one to sacrifice 


• Supply chain issues 


o The pandemic highlighted the importance of supply chains that most people hadn’t 


realized. 


o Due to the pandemic crisis and shortages in labour, global supply chains have been hit 


hard by government regulation and mandates 


o A shortage of truckers and drivers before the pandemic has been exacerbated by 


mandates. 


o As of January 22, which is the deadline for truck driver vaccine mandates in the US.   


o Our product needs to be shipped out, and our supply chains rely critically on these 


workers. Need to reflect on these government impositions that are hurting domestic 


production. 


• Housing crisis 


o Prices have skyrocketed and a news article released by CTV says prices will rise higher in 


2022. 


▪ Sale prices are projected to go up by 9.2 per cent on average across the country 


next year, Re/Max estimates. 


o It is incumbent on our federal government to build housing to ease the strain, ban 


foreign investment, and prioritize Canadian citizens. 


 


I would once again wish to express my thanks for the invite and hope to be able to attend in the future.  


Sincerely,  


 


Martin Shields 


MP Bow River 








MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD DECEMBER 2, 
2021 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING  
 
Board Members Present:    
Mike Nish – Village of Hill Spring    Paula Brown – Town of Cardston 
John Grainger – Town of Cardston   Tom Nish – Cardston County 
Cam Francis - Cardston County  
                 
Others Present:  
Danny Melvin – Fire Chief        Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
Spencer Olsen – Deputy Fire Chief                    
                               
Commenced at 5:01 p.m.  
 
Paula Brown in the chair.                                                        Opening Prayer: Cam Francis 
  
AGENDA  
  
Cam Francis moved to approve the agenda.                                   Carried  
  
MINUTES  


The minutes of the November 4, 2021, meeting was discussed.    


John Grainger moved to accept the minutes of the November 4, 2021, meeting.                        Carried 
 
BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
 
The board inquired whether the budget has been submitted to the participating municipalities and Danny 
Melvin plans to submit the budget after tonight’s meeting discussion. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
  
Danny Melvin reported that the November Emergency Services statistics are as follows: 1 MVC, 4 false 
alarms, 2 supports (power line down and lift assist for a patient), and 1 grass fire. 
 
Mike Nish arrived at 5:05 p.m. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the Authority is looking at web-based software for the fire department 
functions. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that there was a meeting, Wednesday, December 1, 2021 in Magrath regarding 
AFFRC’s radios. Magrath is starting to use these radios as their primary system. 
 







MINUTES CCES MEETING DECEMBER 2, 2021 
 


2 
 


Danny Melvin advised that he received a call from Blood Tribe regarding a change in their fire management.  
Danny will work on a mutual aid agreement with the Blood Tribe. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the insurance and fire pay has increased, and he suggests that the requisition 
rate remain as is due to a contingency fund that will cover this increase. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the staff Christmas social will be next Wednesday, December 9, 2021 at 7p.m.  at 
the Fire Hall.  Cam Francis plans to attend, and other board members will let Danny know once they check 
their schedules. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that he does have some general information regarding the Fire Hall addition if the 
board wishes to review the plans. 
 
John Grainger advised the board that the Town of Cardston did discuss the concern with fire hydrants 
within the town.  Danny will get his information to the Town of Cardston as quickly as possible.  John is 
working with the town on proper placing of fire hydrants too. 
 
Cam Francis inquired as to whether swim passes from the Town of Cardston have been looked at being 
donated.  Paula Brown is working on this project and will gather more information from Danny Melvin. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that he spoke with the CAO of the Village of Glenwood regarding the replacement 
fire truck.  Danny suggested that the CAO speak with the Cardston County regarding the possibility of cost 
sharing the new vehicle. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that Clinton and Dennis Lybbert will co-captain for the Village of Glenwood as of 
January 1, 2022. 
 
John Grainger moved to approve Danny Melvin’s report.                              Carried  
 
Cam Francis moved to go In-Camera at 5:21 p.m.                         Carried 
Cam Francis moved to Reconvene at 5:32 p.m.                         Carried 
 
ADJOURNMENT  


Tom Nish moved to adjourn.                                       Carried  


Adjournment at 5:33 p.m. 


Next board meeting is scheduled for Thursday, January 6, 2021 at 5:00 p.m. at the Cardston County 
Emergency Services Building.    


  


              
Chairman   





		MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD DECEMBER 2, 2021 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING

		MINUTES

		NEW BUSINESS

		ADJOURNMENT






 


 


  


 


 


 


Monthly Report 
For Mayors and Reeves 


Feb 


November 2021| By: Peter Casurella 


SouthGrow Regional Initiative 


P: 403-394-0615 


E: peter.casurella@southgrow.com 







 


 


1 


November 2021 
 


 


Will they Won’t They?  
 
The expansion and improvement of Rural Broadband networks is more important than ever and back in August it 
looked like the Provincial Government was gearing up to take action on this file promising $150 million in grant 
funding for projects in small municipalities and rural Alberta. On August 10th, Premier Jason Kenny announced the 
plan very publicly. Two weeks later the Minister of Service Alberta, Nate Glubish, followed up with a similar 
announcement and invited municipal leaders, economic development officers, and small Internet Service Providers 
from across the province to participate in a series of webinars to talk about the opportunity. 
  
Several people from SouthGrow, and staff from our regional ISP’s, attended these webinars where we heard in very 
clear terms from the Minister himself, that the money would be released as a grant intake that communities and 
private business could apply for. Details would be forthcoming, but it would be a grant intake.  
 
On that webinar we asked that the full $150 million be made available for application and that none of it be pre-
allocated to large telecom projects which long experience has taught us do not meet the needs of our small rural 
communities where the need is highest.  
 
Today we’re still waiting, and conversations and questions asked of Ministers at the recent AUMA and RMA 
conventions are disquieting. The official line on the promised $150 million seems to be that the GOA is attempting to 
leverage their $150 million into $1 billion with matching funds coming from private industry and the Government of 
Canada. Leveraging is, of course, always a good thing, but the very real worry and risk is that the $150 million is 
allocated to a large telecom company in exchange for unlocking private investment from them which is unlikely to 
filter down to realize results in our villages, hamlets, and the remote corners of our region where rural people are 
starved for connectivity.  
 
While we are still waiting for clear answers, we haven’t been idle.  
 
Over the past year, SouthGrow has:  
 


1. Sponsored and aided a technology trial of Terragraph wireless technology with the Milk River Cable Club. 
2. On the backs of this successful trial, we helped the Town of Milk River apply for (and receive) $30,000 from 


the Canadian Healthy Communities Initiative to expand the trial to a pilot scale project in the town.  
3. On the backs of this successful pilot, we formed two large collaborations of all of our remaining villages and 


towns that don’t yet have high-speed internet and worked to get two large deployment projects shovel ready. 
We applied for $250,000 for each project, an amount that was more than doubled by the private industry 
investment from our ISP partners, and for which we also had committed money from the partner 
municipalities. These applications were unsuccessful.  


4. We advanced conversations with Axia-Bell to upgrade the SuperNet POP sites in our project areas and were 
helped in this endeavor by Service Alberta, who helped us lower the costs by over 50%.  


5. We helped the Town of Cardston also get a shovel ready project in-line in preparation for the promised 
release of the grant.  


Where we are:  
 


1. There are three shovel ready broadband projects that have hundreds of thousands of dollars in private 
industry contributions waiting to be built.  


2. We have advanced conversations with federal agencies about securing funding but even the federal agencies 
keep pointing to the Provincial Government and their promised $150 million grant intake as the key.  


 







 
What this would mean: 
 
If we can secure the funding we need, all three projects could be built out before the end of 2023, and every village or 
town within SouthGrow would have very high-speed internet available. We would be the most connected rural 
region in all of Canada.  
 
If our local ISPs also succeed on their Universal Broadband Fund applications, the entire region will also have at least 
50/10 available across the rural landscape.  
 
What we need: 
 


1. We need our local MLAs to advocate for the GOA to keep their promise and offer out a grant intake that we 
can apply for.  


2. We need our Councils to echo this message. 
3. We need the Government of Alberta to recognize that getting $1 billion on paper doesn’t mean anything to us 


if it doesn’t solve our connectivity gap and that large telecoms do not have a track record or a history of 
solving this problem in rural Alberta.  


4. We need to remember that more competition in the ISP space is better and opening up a grant intake to all 
ISPs will be systemically better for Alberta than simply leveraging the money against private contributions 
from a large telecom company.  


 
For more information on the issues at stake and the work that SouthGrow is doing to enable economic development 
in our region, please give our office a call and chat with me.  
 


Sincerely, 


 


Peter Casurella 
Executive Director 
SouthGrow Regional Initiative 
1-403-394-0615 
 


 


 


 


 


Have you Read Our Report on the Cost Benefit Analysis for Rural Alberta Broadband? 


Available at www.southgrow.com 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


3 


Headlines for November 2021 


 


Please find below an update that tracks our operational plan for the year and which speaks to each item. In short: Things are 
going quite well overall.  


 


Please find below an update that tracks our operational plan for the year and which speaks to each item. 
 


1. Administration 
 


- Only one outstanding membership invoice. 
- FEAP trailer has been sold and money returned to account 
- We have met our income goal for the year.  
- Membership voted to increase member rate to $1 per capital in 2022, with a cap of $10,000, with only 3 nay votes.  


 
 


2. Strategic Collaborations 
 


 
Member Engagement 


 
  Activity: Annual Council Presentations.  


Goal: The Executive Director will endeavor to deliver a direct report to council to half of our members on an 
annual basis. (14) 


  Target: 50% of members receive a report directly to council (15) 
  Progress: Presentations to councils have been fully booked and mostly completed.  


Status: Completed  
 
  Activity: Councillor Training (Economic Development for Elected Officials) 


Goal: SouthGrow will provide subsidized training in Economic Development to regional councilors following 
the municipal elections in October 2021 and deliver that training to at least 20 councilors.  
Target: One session held in January 2022, 20 Councilors in attendance 
Progress: Training costed, partnership with PEP and ABSW agreed on to host 2 sessions in southern Alberta, 
information on sessions to go out before October 18th to municipal staff, booking venues. Session booked for 
January 20th. 15 attendees RSVP-ed, room for 15 more.  
Status: On Track 


   
  Activity: Sustainability Committee 


Goal: SouthGrow will convene a sustainability committee of volunteers pulled from its members to explore 
models for sustaining the organization's operations beyond 2023 and will present a recommendation by 
March 2022. 
Target: At least one feasible recommendation for organization sustainability past 2023 presented to the full 
board of directors by March 2022. 
Progress: Committee was formed, 3 minuted meetings have been held, several informal meetings with 
stakeholders for discussion purposes held, recommendations drafted and forwarded to Executive. 
Recommendations approved for presentation to full board for discussion and voting. Board voted to increase 
member rate and to renew conversations with GOA about sustaining our funding.  
Status: COMPLETED 
 
 
 







 
Activity: Economic Development Summit  
Goal: SouthGrow hosts a regional Economic Development Summit in March of 2022 that provides 
stakeholders with access to speakers and engagement on important economic development topics, trends, 
and issues that affect our region.  
Target: Greater than 70 attendees from member communities, partners, and stakeholders. 
Progress: Venue and date booked for end of March 2022. Will be held in Carmangay. Board needs to decide                      
about protocol for in-person meetings in light of evolving pandemic situation.  
Status: On Track 
 


 
Build and Sustain Collaborations 


 
Activity: Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Partnership – Community Energy Forum 
Goal: SouthGrow will increase community awareness of opportunities in renewable energy by hosting a 
community energy forum that offers staff and councilors an in-depth look at the opportunities available in 
community energy, how to pursue them, how to fund them, and the benefits they bring; and we will host this 
forum in the early fall of 2021, before municipal budgets are set for the coming year. 
Target: 40 staff and councillors, or other interested parties attend.  
Progress: Event timelines moved back to early 2022 because of Covid. Started identifying and contacting 
speakers. Covid-dependant so far, or switch to online platform. Board needs to decide about in-person 
protocols. 
Status: Delayed 


 
Activity: Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Partnership – Website Update 
Goal: SouthGrow will update the SAAEP website in the fall of 2021 to ensure content is current and the 
projects map is up to date.  
Target: Website updated, tested, and content is reviewed and updated. Additional resources added.   
Progress: Partnership formed, $ committed, CIP grant application has been written and submitted to leverage 
dollars. Partnership with Community Futures has been formed for in-kind contributions. Quotes have been 
collected from content contributors. Website work has begun. Going well.  
Status: On Track 


 
Activity: Southern Alberta Investment and Trade Initiative Participation 
Goal: SouthGrow maintains its participation and leadership in the Southern Alberta Investment and Trade 
Initiative, pursuing meaningful projects under its umbrella as detailed in other plan sections. 
Target: At least one project is advanced under the brand within 2021 
Progress: Global Marketing Project Phase 1 has been fully complete. Phase 2 partners have committed 
$20,000, grant application going to CanExport in October 2021 for doubling. Contractor to run Phase 2 of the 
marketing program has been identified.  Grant has been submitted. Website work is starting.  
Status: On Track 


 
Activity: Canada’s Premier Food Corridor and Canada’s Western Gateway 
Goal: SouthGrow supports the growth of sub-regional collaborations that promote industry clusters by 
convening them when necessary, hosting meetings, providing advisor services, connecting them with 
resources, and by actively using those brands in our own communications efforts. This support is ongoing and 
continual. 
Target: CPFC and CWG remain active and managed by their own membership. 
Progress: CPFC has had multiple meetings and is moving ahead with a video project. CWG is planning their 
next meeting and has been working with local MLA on designation of the corridor for marketing purposes. 
CWG group has new appointments and can plan meeting. 
Status: On Track 


 







 


 


5 


 
Activity: Southern Alberta Tourism Collaboration 
Goal: SouthGrow collaborates with Tourism Lethbridge to promote the growth of the tourism Industry and 
tourism opportunities in the SouthGrow region to secure support for regional tourism growth and build trust 
between the city and region on this file. Importantly, SouthGrow pays Tourism Lethbridge to assist in a slate 
of services that are regionally focused. 
Target:   SouthGrow leverages our investment by 2x that of Tourism Lethbridge. Program targets are met 
within the slate of services. Relationships between regional and city stakeholders on the tourism file are 
improved. 
Progress: Partnership was formed, contribution paid, slate of work is on-track, Tourism Lethbridge successfully 
leveraged dollars by 2x. Request for regional advisor to sit on Tourism Lethbridge board has been sent. 
Tourism Lethbridge board balked on regional collaboration. Program of work proceeding. New relationship 
work needed here.  
Status: On Track 
 
 
Activity: Highway 3 Twinning Development Association 
Goal: SouthGrow graduates the Highway 3 Twinning Development Association out of its umbrella and 
continues to strategically support its operations with matching funding, board representation, In-kind 
support, and regional buy-in from our membership. SouthGrow ensures that the H3TDA remains a vibrant, 
active, and impactful organization. 
Target: H3TDA is independent at the end of 2021. 
Progress:  H3TDA has been meeting their goals. Association is fully independent except for mail collection. 
Discussions to be had near end of year on evolution of relationship. Discussions were held. All paperwork has 
been updated, H3TDA ready to go independent of SouthGrow umbrella. SouthGrow to remain as a core 
partner and continue to provide matching funds for project work.  
Status: COMPLETED 
 


Sustain or Expand Membership  
 


 Activity: Present to Barons and Barnwell on rejoining SouthGrow 
Goal: SouthGrow presents the value of membership to the Villages of Barons and Barnwell with a request for 
them to re-consider membership with the association.  
Target: Both villages receive a presentation. Barons elects to join SouthGrow. Barnwell elects to join 
SouthGrow.  
Progress:  In this year the Town of Bow Island requested a membership presentation and joined the 
association and the County of 40 Mile also recently joined. Barnwell has invited a membership presentation 
for January. Barons is undergoing a by-election and we will re-approach them in January.     
Status: On Track / COMPLETED 


 
Activity: Expand Associate Memberships to Industry and Institutions 
Goal: SouthGrow engages stakeholder businesses or institutions in the region through associate 
memberships, making them partners in the work of regional economic development and recruits at least 2 
such members in 2021.  
Target: 2 Associate Members within 2021  
Progress:  Associate Memberships have been requested from Exhibition Park, the Lethbridge Chamber of 
Commerce, University of Lethbridge. Other prospects include Lethbridge College and the Lethbridge Industrial 
Association. Milk River Cable Club has requested an associate membership. Key contact at the U of L has left, 
will re-approach.  
Status: On Track 
 
 
 







 
3. Marketing and Communications 


 
Regional Promotion 


 
Activity: Website Improvements 
Goal: SouthGrow updates its easy-to-use WIX website with additional resources from its digitization program 
in 2020 and makes these resources available. Links are tested, content refreshed, and meta data improved for 
greater visibility and impact. Backlinks to core partner websites are added in a visible location before end of 
year.  
Target: Website is refreshed by end of May 2021 with opportunities for additional improvements throughout 
the year.  
Progress:  Behind envisioned pace but work is now ongoing. Large amounts of content added to resources, 
visual updates happening with new photos, content being reviewed and updated.  
Status: On Track 
 
 
Activity: Market the Region Globally 
Goal: SouthGrow project manages a digital marketing campaign in 2021 as part of the SAITI partnership and 
runs a digital campaign that raises the profile of our region in target markets around the world, with particular 
emphasis on the United States, Canada, and Western Europe.  
Target: SouthGrow has the campaign built by June of 2021 in partnership with our selected consultants.  
SouthGrow oversees the running of phase 2 by a qualified consultant (the actual campaign) in the summer 
and fall of 2021. Collect meaningful data on penetration and conversions from this pilot for base metric in 
future campaigns.   
Progress:  Phase 1 complete, entire campaign built. Qualified consultant identified, Phase 2 funded by 
partners, applying for CanExport grant to double project funds. Grant application submitted. Landing page 
build moving forward. All partner funds collected.  
Status: On Track, slightly behind schedule.  


 
 


Activity: Regional Photography Project 
Goal: SouthGrow works with Economic Development Lethbridge to co-fund a robust still and moving digital 
image package of regional facilities and views capes that can be used by any of our members for websites, 
promotional materials, and more. This package is procured in the spring of 2021 and is available to the region 
by summer 2021.  
Target: A couple dozen high-quality images of views capes of note, with some motion Images as well.  
Progress:  Photography project mostly complete, a couple of outstanding shots for sites that photographer is 
having a hard time reaching. Photos uploaded and delivered to membership for use.  
Status: COMPLETED pending submission of final 2 shots.  


 
Stakeholder Communications     
 


Activity: Newsletters 
Goal: SouthGrow keeps its internal members and stakeholders well-advised of trends, opportunities, threats, 
and events that impact community and regional economic development. We also keep them well informed of 
Provincial Government initiatives.  
Target: Newsletters are issued bi-weekly to a distribution list of anyone who wants it.  
Board members receive a daily Government Relations newsletter forwarded from the SouthGrow office. 
Progress:  Newsletters have been delivered on-time with high-quality. AB Today newsletters regularly sent 
out.  
Status: On Track 


 







 


 


7 


 
4. Economic Development and Innovation 


 
Ag-Tech Market Development  


 
Activity: Ag-Tech Scholarship / Incentive Program 
Goal: SouthGrow actively supports youth engagement in the Hi-Tech Ag sector by partnering with educational 
organizations in the region to deliver scholarships to students attending Lethbridge College or the University 
of Lethbridge who plan to build a career in agri-food in southern Alberta.  
Target: At least 2 scholarships worth $1500 each are awarded in the fall of 2021.  
Applicants exceed 2020 numbers. (11)  
Progress:  Contributions received from MNP and AFSG totalling $2000. Total available $5000. Committee is 
currently working to award Scholarships. Applicant numbers were down by 1. Scholarships awarded. Lots of 
interest in sponsorships for next year. 
Status: COMPLETED: Exceeded Target for $, On Track for Project timelines, Missed increase in applicant 


numbers. 
 


Activity: Exhibition Park Virtual Reality Program 
Goal: SouthGrow will actively support the development of virtual reality venue that replicates the new 
Exhibition Park pavilion and serves as a remote gathering space for meetings and a sales tool for attracting 
conventions and events to.  
Target: VR space is built and in active operation by SouthGrow and others by March 2022.  
Progress:  VR space has been built, SouthGrow’s logo is in it. Model is being used by Exhibition Park. Regional 
Portal and access not yet set up.  
Status: On Track 


 
 


Broadband Deployment  
 


Activity: Terragraph Project for Below CRTC Speed Members 
Goal: SouthGrow organizes and manages a partnership of the Vulcan County villages to jointly apply to the 
Canadian Healthy Communities Initiative to fund a deployment of Terragraph equipment in their communities 
and in hamlets where infrastructure allows. We also Shepard other communities, such as the Village of 
Warner, Coutts, Foremost, Cardston, and Vauxhall towards implementing this technology. Builds for all 11 
remaining communities are progressing by the end of March 2022.  
Target: Contract issued to an ISP to build out Vulcan County villages and hamlets.  


Stretch Goal 1: Vauxhall included in RFP.  
Stretch Goal 2: Cardston has build underway.  
Stretch Goal 3: Warner, Coutts, and Foremost have builds underway 


Progress:  Vulcan County project shovel ready, Highway 4 project shovel ready, Cardston project racing 
towards shovel ready status. Grant applications submitted for Vulcan and Highway 4 projects. Grants sadly 
unsuccessful. Next approaches to be made to Service Alberta and Prairies Can, then other directions for grant 
funding. Prairies Can uncertain that they can help fund. Service Alberta alarmingly going in a different 
direction with their grant money????  Won’t confirm that the money will be part of an intake. POP site 
upgrades are progressing.  
Status: First Grant application unsuccessful, new approaches in-line. Partial work proceeding.  


 
 


Pilot Projects 
 


Activity: Zero Emissions Vehicle Infrastructure Project (30 month) 
Goal: SouthGrow manages the disbursement of ZEVIP funding from NRCAN to fund a wide array of charging 
infrastructure in the region. This project is completed by 2023 and involves an active partnership with the 







MCCAC allowing many of our member municipalities to get fully subsidized infrastructure, and institutions and 
businesses to get 50% matching funding for their projects. The full amount is successfully spent by project end 
in 2023.  
Target: Est 1.7 million dollars in spend on infrastructure, and over 100 chargers by 2023.  
2021 Target. Funding is secured, Project Manager hired, operational plan is on-schedule for completion.  
Contingency: Application template, technical contacts for FLO, information package on how to site chargers, 
and other supporting documents are supplied to members. Members are applying (at least 20).  
Progress:  Agreed on contract making circulation for signatures. Long delays from the Feds. Continual contract 
changes to negotiate. Committee has charted a good path forward. Changing goalposts from NRCAN have 
been frustrating. 46% matching funding now the reality rather than 50%. October start envisioned. November 
contract was signed. RFP has been issued. Planning Press release.  
Status: On Track despite NRCAN delays.  


 
Activity: EV Bus Pilot Project 
Goal: SouthGrow completes multi-year application process to get EV bus for highway 4 corridor funded, with 
funding landed within 2021 and bus purchased and operational in-region by January of 2022  
Target: FCM grant is landed by fall of 2021. Bus is purchased and delivered by December of 2021.   
Progress:  FCM has come back in September 2021 with requests for MORE information. Staff has begun work 
on alternate grant opportunity. Grant was successful after all! More documents submitted, waiting for 
contract to sign from the FCM. 
Status: On Track  


 
Activity: Nobleford Incinerator Pilot Project 
Goal: SouthGrow project manages the feasibility study for the possible purchase and installation of a 
community waste Incinerator in the Town of Nobleford, in collaboration with Nobleford and Barons. The 
Feasibility study is complete by the end of 2021 with intent to apply to the FCM for pilot project funding in 
early 2022.  
Target: Feasibility study is complete by October of 2021.  
FCM has reviewed feasibility study and advises on pilot scale application by December 2021.  
Progress:  No progress made by Engineer. Problem appears to be leveraging of ‘free / donated’ work by 
engineering company leading to no progress. Need to find new way forward or way to incentivize / pay for the 
work.  Major interest from members in this project.  
Status: Behind Schedule   


 
 
Targets of Opportunity 


 
 


Activity: Regional Import Replacement Program 
Goal: SouthGrow project manages a 2-year regional import replacement project that completes its work 
within the 2-year timespan of the project as defined by the detailed project proposals.  
Target: A government funded Import Replacement project for our region is implemented and pursuing its 
operational goals.  
Progress:  JEI has not declined to fund project but has gone silent. No official no from them. Prairies Can is 
very interested in funding. Delays due to creation of Prairies Can. Conversations advancing again. Submitting 
documents to Prairies Canada.  
Status: On Track  
 
Activity: Labour Market Partnership Work 
Goal: SouthGrow re-forms and leads a partnership to pursue next stage Labour Market work arising out of our 
previous Skills Gap Study. 
Target: Partner commitment is secured, budget formed, project identified, grant applied for and secured, and 
project initiated within the fiscal year.  







 


 


9 


 


Progress:  Partner commitment is secured, project identified, grant not yet applied for. Grant still not open. 
Possible pivot to Women’s Economic Recovery Project. In discussion with Community Futures on a 
partnership to deliver opportunities throughout the region.  
Status: On Track  
 
***Activity: SAAEP Government Relations and Grid Modernization (New Work) 
Goal: SouthGrow and SAAEP Partners advance provincial conversation on need for unified action on Grid 
Modernization.   
Target: SAAEP Partners present to Standing Committee on Alberta’s Economic Future on Opportunities and 
Challenges and request MLA support and action on regulatory and legislative change.    
Progress:  Meetings with Ministers held, partnership secured from Energy Futures Lab, presentation to 
committee has been requested. Trying to wrangle partners to move forward fast. Energy Futures Lab now on 
board, ready to apply to present. We applied to present. Committee discussed and shuffled us to another 
standing committee. Request now being reviewed there.  
Status: On Track  
 
 


 
 


 
 


 


 


Don’t forget to email info@southgrow.com if you would like to get signed up for our economic development 
newsletter. This newsletter has been called ‘The Best Economic Development Newsletter in the West’ (mostly 
by us, but that doesn’t make it less true.) It comes packed with great resources for you and your people.  


 


 


southgrow.com 


Economic Development | Government Relations  


All content copyright © 1999 - 2018 SouthGrow Regional Initiative. All rights 


reserved. Corporate Access Number: 5111053608 


About SouthGrow Regional Initiate  


SouthGrow is an economic development alliance of twenty-six south central Alberta 


communities committed to working together to achieve prosperity for the region. 


Representing over 170,000 people, SouthGrow is committed to assisting 


communities, organizations, businesses, and people in the region to further their 


economic development goals and to maintain the high quality of life. 



mailto:info@southgrow.com






 


 
 
 


Alberta Recreation and Parks Association 
 
December 6, 2021 
 
Dear Mayor and elected Councillors, 
 
On behalf of the Alberta Recreation and Parks Association (ARPA), I would like to extend my congratulations 
on your recent election to your municipal council! You should be proud of the passion and dedication you have 
to making your communities better places to live, work and play.  
 
I would also like to take this opportunity to introduce you to our Association. ARPA is a non-profit, volunteer 
run organization whose purpose is to collaboratively support our members and partners to (re)create healthy 
citizens, communities and environments, enhancing the wellbeing of all Albertans. The majority of 
municipalities in Alberta are members with ARPA, especially those that have recreation and parks within their 
planning and services. 
 
Recreation and parks are the heart of our communities and often serve as the hubs for communities to gather 
and connect. In a recent study ARPA undertook, 77% of Albertans surveyed strongly agree that public 
recreation services are essential to their community and over 95% believe that recreation and parks make a 
community a desirable place to live. 
 
Over the past 18 months, Albertans have reconnected with nature and the outdoors. This has led to both 
opportunities and challenges. Over this same period the pandemic and changing restrictions has made it 
difficult to provide consistent, equitable and quality recreation programs in our indoor spaces. 
 
ARPA is here to help our municipal members more than ever to support our citizens and communities to 
recover and re-engage with the activities they have always loved, or maybe just recently discovered. We are 
here to support your staff, volunteers and community leaders. We are also here to help you as elected 
officials. 
 
I would also like to highlight the important role you have as a member of council to ensuring everyone in your 
community has access to affordable, quality recreation and park experiences.  If you and your council would 
like to learn more about providing leadership to the recreation and parks in your own communities please 
contact us in regards to the Recreation and Parks for Elected Officials training we have available for both 
virtual and in-person. We would also love to host you at our annual Conference next October in Jasper. We 
will send you all invitations next summer once we have the program finalized. 
 
Once again, my sincere congratulations on your appointment to council. We value the work you are doing to 
support the quality of life in your community, and we encourage you to reach out at any time with questions or 
simply to connect. You can contact our Executive Director, Steve Allan at 780-415-1745 ext. 102 or 
sallan@arpaonline.ca  
 
Warmest regards, 
 
 
 
Heather Cowie        
President         








MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD DECEMBER 2, 
2021 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING  
 
Board Members Present:    
Mike Nish – Village of Hill Spring    Paula Brown – Town of Cardston 
John Grainger – Town of Cardston   Tom Nish – Cardston County 
Cam Francis - Cardston County  
                 
Others Present:  
Danny Melvin – Fire Chief        Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
Spencer Olsen – Deputy Fire Chief                    
                               
Commenced at 5:01 p.m.  
 
Paula Brown in the chair.                                                        Opening Prayer: Cam Francis 
  
AGENDA  
  
Cam Francis moved to approve the agenda.                                   Carried  
  
MINUTES  


The minutes of the November 4, 2021, meeting was discussed.    


John Grainger moved to accept the minutes of the November 4, 2021, meeting.                        Carried 
 
BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
 
The board inquired whether the budget has been submitted to the participating municipalities and Danny 
Melvin plans to submit the budget after tonight’s meeting discussion. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
  
Danny Melvin reported that the November Emergency Services statistics are as follows: 1 MVC, 4 false 
alarms, 2 supports (power line down and lift assist for a patient), and 1 grass fire. 
 
Mike Nish arrived at 5:05 p.m. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the Authority is looking at web-based software for the fire department 
functions. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that there was a meeting, Wednesday, December 1, 2021 in Magrath regarding 
AFFRC’s radios. Magrath is starting to use these radios as their primary system. 
 







MINUTES CCES MEETING DECEMBER 2, 2021 
 


2 
 


Danny Melvin advised that he received a call from Blood Tribe regarding a change in their fire management.  
Danny will work on a mutual aid agreement with the Blood Tribe. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the insurance and fire pay has increased, and he suggests that the requisition 
rate remain as is due to a contingency fund that will cover this increase. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the staff Christmas social will be next Wednesday, December 9, 2021 at 7p.m.  at 
the Fire Hall.  Cam Francis plans to attend, and other board members will let Danny know once they check 
their schedules. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that he does have some general information regarding the Fire Hall addition if the 
board wishes to review the plans. 
 
John Grainger advised the board that the Town of Cardston did discuss the concern with fire hydrants 
within the town.  Danny will get his information to the Town of Cardston as quickly as possible.  John is 
working with the town on proper placing of fire hydrants too. 
 
Cam Francis inquired as to whether swim passes from the Town of Cardston have been looked at being 
donated.  Paula Brown is working on this project and will gather more information from Danny Melvin. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that he spoke with the CAO of the Village of Glenwood regarding the replacement 
fire truck.  Danny suggested that the CAO speak with the Cardston County regarding the possibility of cost 
sharing the new vehicle. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that Clinton and Dennis Lybbert will co-captain for the Village of Glenwood as of 
January 1, 2022. 
 
John Grainger moved to approve Danny Melvin’s report.                              Carried  
 
Cam Francis moved to go In-Camera at 5:21 p.m.                         Carried 
Cam Francis moved to Reconvene at 5:32 p.m.                         Carried 
 
ADJOURNMENT  


Tom Nish moved to adjourn.                                       Carried  


Adjournment at 5:33 p.m. 


Next board meeting is scheduled for Thursday, January 6, 2021 at 5:00 p.m. at the Cardston County 
Emergency Services Building.    


  


              
Chairman   





		MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD DECEMBER 2, 2021 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING

		MINUTES

		NEW BUSINESS

		ADJOURNMENT






 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


Jillien Watmough called the meeting to order at 1:00pm 
 
1.1 Election of Chairperson – Reeve Merrill Harris was nominated to be the Chairperson – Accepted 


 
1.2 Election of Vice Chairperson – Reeve Dan Hamilton was nominated to be the Vice Chairperson - 


Accepted 
 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 


Moved by Mayor Don Anderberg- Carried 
 
3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
 Moved by Mayor Ed Weistra- Carried 


 
4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
  
5.0 REPORTS 
 


  5.1 MP Reports –  
    MP Martin Shields –  


• Discussed the challenges of crossing the land border back into Canada from the USA, 
including the costs included with the PCR test. 


• Private planes are able to land at the Lethbridge Airport. 


• Discussed the critical need for irrigation. 


• Discussed the ag-food sector and the farm to fork program hosted by the sugar beet 
farmers. 


     MP Glen Motz –  


• Discussed the significant struggles businesses are having and the different supports 
needed depending on the sectors they are in, with labour shortages being the biggest 
issue. 


• Discussed vaccine mandates and jobs lost due to the choice of getting vaccinated or 
not. 


• Inflation will have significant impacts moving forward.  
   


 5.2 MLA Reports 
    
   MLA Joseph Schow –  


• Discussed Bill 49, Labour Mobility Act 


• Discussed Covid and being at the end of the Delta variant wave. Appreciates 
everyone’s work and comments. 


• Discussed the vaccine mandate – have heard a number of concerns. Discussed the 
Restrictions exemption program. 


• Discussed the 52% cut to MSI funding. 
 
    
 
 
 
 
 


MINUTES 
Friday, November 5, 2021 


Via Zoom 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  
November 5, 2021 Minutes 


   MLA Grant Hunter -  


• Discussed the $45 million provided to the education system for support to early 
learners as well as the at home rapid test kits for schools to distribute to families 
with children in grades kindergarten to 6. 


• Discussed Bill 76, the Captive Insurance Companies Act. 


• Discussed Bill 74, the Advanced Education Statutes Amendment Act. 


• Discussed the equalization referendum with 62% of Albertans voting yes. 
 
   MLA Nathan Neudorf –  


• Discussed the Infrastructure Act being significant in the 20-year capital plan.  
Communities will be able to view and track it. 


• Discussed the RCPM/Alberta police report. 


• Discussed Bill 77. 
 


 


 


6.0 REPORTS 


 
6.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Mayor Blair Painter 


• Discussed Peaks to Prairies launching EV – new funding available for charging station 
installations and electric vehicles. 


 


6.2 SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• Councillor training and economic development will be held the third week in January 
in Coaldale. 


• Discussed having increased per capita to one dollar due to the cuts to REDA’s. 


• Discussed alternative energy. 


• Discussed the teregraph pilot program. 


• Discussed having an electric bus running up highway 4 once a week as a pilot 
project. 


 


 6.3 RMA – Reeve Jason Schneider 


• Discussed Policing – RMA and AUMA have been working on policing for quite some 
time.  Still feel as if a deeper dive is necessary into the report.  RMA will be sending 
the whole report to its members. 


• Discussed unpaid oil and gas taxes and how Bill 77 will help municipalities recoup 
some of their losses. 


• The Elected Official training program is coming up with a virtual option to attend as 
well. 


• RMA convention is coming up, November 23-26. 


 


           6.4 AUMA – Tanya Thorn 


• No report. 


    







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 3  
November 5, 2021 Minutes 


6.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


• Discussed restoring creek banks mostly in the head waters. 


• Discussed how the board of members is set up. 


• If you have any environmental concerns in your community please reach out. 


• Municipalities will be receiving donation requests and council meeting presentation 
requests shortly. 


• Thanked everyone for their help in the past. 


 
        6.6 Highway #3 Association- Bill Chapman 


• Invites everyone to sign the petition at www.twin3.ca 


• Discussed the new members that have joined. 


 
8.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 


Friday, December 3, 2021 – 1:00 via Zoom 
 
9.0 ADJOURNMENT:   
 
  Moved Reeve Dan Hamilton to adjourn meeting at 2:48 pm.  Carried 
 
Future Topic: Linear Taxation 
 
 
 


  



http://www.twin3.ca/






A land use analysis of an affordable 
compact housing typology.


Inaugural Edition 
Fall 2021


ORRSC Periodical


Cluster-detached housing can be a viable 
component of a multi-prong housing solution that 
addresses accessibility and affordability in pursuit of 
better housing outcomes for southern Albertans. 
If developed in accordance with established 
planning principles, cluster-detached housing is 
also a tactical and economical solution to realize a 
more efficient use of land by adding gentle density 
to built-up areas.


Oldman River Regional Services Commission


Cluster-detached 
housing











Town of Stavely


In 2015, Stavely added Dwelling 
Group to their Residential 
Multi-unit land use district to 
accommodate their cluster-
detached development. The 
dwelling group was further 
defined by the following criteria:


• density of existing 
development within the block


• no minimum floor area
• adequacy and proximity of 


community and recreational 
facilities and open space


• adequacy and proximity of 
community facilities such as 
schools, shopping, recreation 
facilities and open space


• adequacy of utilities to 
accommodate the use


• impacts on future land uses 
and the street system


• 10% minimum landscaping 
for common open space 
and onsite amenities such 
as playground equipment, 
barbeque and recreation 
areas and similar features


The completed development 
features 4 - 686 ft2 single 
bedroom units on a single 
100x145 ft lot. Each moved-in 
unit is individually serviced and 
has private and common amenity 
space linked by ample walkways. 
Rent has been around $600/
month and has housed mainly 
couples. The location is walkable 
to the mainstreet and other 
amenities in town.


What is cluster-detached housing?
 
Cluster-detached housing is a compact housing type consisting 
of multiple detached principal dwellings spatially articulated 
around a centralized amenity space. The term compact is used 
in this report to indicate a gross floor area measuring less than 
800 ft2. While cluster-detached housing could manifest at a 
variety of scales, this preliminary analysis focuses primarily on 
the single-lot context and seeks to explore the potential to 
develop multiple detached principal dwellings on a single lot. 
The spatial configuration of larger-scale implementations of 
cluster-detached housing may bear some resemblance to a 
manufactured home park.


Certain municipalities in southern Alberta such as the Town of 
Stavely (cover image) and the Town of Raymond include 
”dwelling group” as a use involving the development of a cluster 
of buildings, each of which contains one or more dwelling units. 
A dwelling group meets the definition of cluster-detached 
housing if each of its residential buildings contain only one 
dwelling unit. However, a dwelling group may also 
accommodate proposals of a significantly higher density 
involving multi-unit buildings.


In the spirit of imagining small-scale infill redevelopment that 
contributes gentle density to an existing neighbourhood, the 
analysis herein imposes a limit of one dwelling unit per 
building. The term gentle density refers to ground-oriented 
housing that is more dense than typical single-detached 
houses, but has a smaller scale and character therefore having 
minimal impact on a neighbourhood. Gentle density could be 
in the form of smaller single-detached homes (as with cluster-
detached housing), adding a garden or garage suite to an 
existing lot, or even the development of semi-detached or row 
housing.


page 1


Policy context
 
The Federation of Canadian Municipalities has proclaimed the 
need to develop more innovative housing solutions during the 
rebuild of the national economy. In fall 2020 this position was 
proactively supported by the federal government through the 
launch of its Rapid Housing Initiative, and by the Alberta 
Affordable Housing Review Panel in its submission to the 
Alberta Government. Compact housing types such as cluster-
detached housing are well-suited to become a pillar of this 
multi-tiered framework to achieve better housing outcomes for 
southern Albertans.


ORRSC Periodical   |    Inaugural Edition







At the provincial level, the 2020 Final Report of the Alberta 
Affordable Housing Review Panel advocates for transformative 
change respecting the delivery of affordable housing. Most 
notably, the Panel recommends engaging the private sector to 
develop and operate affordable housing units.


The Affordable Housing Review Panel also highlights the 
unique capacity for municipal planning regimes to enable 
more diverse housing supplies in anticipation of a protracted 
economic recovery. Seeking expedited development timelines, 
CMHC structured the Rapid Housing Initiative affordable 
housing delivery program to reserve the entire $1 billion for 
projects that utilize modular construction practices. However, 
municipalities may not be set up to take advantage of these 
government opportunities as local regulations may be inflexible 
and ill-equipped to provide for innovative housing forms. As 
a specific example, modular dwellings and site-built dwellings 
are typically treated as separate uses in local bylaws, and in 
many cases modular dwellings are prohibited where a proposal 
involves the development of multi-unit dwellings. These 
regulations would then prevent a municipality from accessing 
the federal money available under the Rapid Housing Initiative. 


At the regional level, the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan 
(SSRP) supports the strategic direction espoused by the 
Affordable Housing Review Panel. Strategy 8.14 in the regional 
plan expresses that municipalities should feature innovative 
housing designs and provide for a diversity of residential 
environments, including cluster developments and affordable 
housing. Compact forms of housing are expressly endorsed 
in the companion piece to the SSRP: The Efficient Use of Land 
Implementation Tools Compendium. 


page 2 ORRSC Periodical   |    Inaugural Edition


Minimum size for living space
 
Building code regulations are the logical place to start when it 
comes to contemplating minimum standards for living space. 
The pertinent code in Alberta is the 2019 National Building Code 
– Alberta Edition, abbreviated as NBC(AE) and brought into 
legislative standing by the Safety Codes Act. The NBC used to 
contain minimum requirements for individual rooms and spaces; 
however, they were eliminated for all (non-daycare) spaces in 
the transition to objective-based codes. 
 
Unlike the NBC(AE), the Ontario Edition of the NBC does include 
minimum floor area requirements for dwelling units. A 2019 
report by the Ontario Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 
Housing clarifies that while those requirements vary depending 
on whether the rooms and spaces are separated by walls, the 
smallest possible configuration for an open-concept 
single-storey layout is 188 ft2. In all provinces, local planning 
jurisdictions can require minimum floor area requirements 


South Saskatchewan Regional 
Plan (SSRP) Strategy 8.14


Feature innovative housing 
designs, range of densities and 
housing types such as mixed-
use, cluster developments, 
secondary suites, seniors’ 
centres and affordable housing. 
Provide the opportunity for a 
variety of residential 
environments which feature 
innovative designs and densities 
and which make efficient use of 
existing facilities, infrastructure 
and public transportation.







Municipalities often use 
minimum floor areas on the 
basis of achieving an anticipated 
assessment value for dwellings 
based on the intended use of the 
land. Minimum floor areas can be 
a useful tool supporting 
predictably in housing 
developments for existing 
landowners and prospective 
purchasers.  Architectural 
controls may also be utilized in 
new subdivisions for this purpose 
by both private developers and 
municipal land development 
entities.


On the other end of the 
spectrum, the City of 
Lethbridge has adopted an 
approach whereby it does not 
regulate the size of single- 
detached dwellings, instead 
relying on lifestyle preferences 
and market forces to dictate 
outcomes in the built form. 
Where utilized, minimum floor 
requirements in land use bylaws 
should be established judiciously, 
with an awareness of the need to 
provide a range of housing types 
across the spectrum of 
affordability. 


 


above and beyond those needed to comply with building code 
legislation.


Building code requirements safeguard public health and safety 
but do not deal with livability except to the extent that it 
overlaps with the other two elements. Cluster-detached 
housing may get equated with tiny homes, which are single-
detached dwellings under 400 ft2, but they are not the same 
thing. The “tiny house” movement can be seen as a reaction to 
contemporary economic, social and environmental challenges, 
but its viability as a long-term solution to systemic imbalances 
in the housing market is challenged by the transient nature 
of the housing form and by conventional financial lending 
guidelines. As compact cluster-detached housing shows, plenty 
of opportunity exists to provide for imaginative housing types 
without contemplating dwellings under 400 ft2.


While lowering floor area has some merit, its role in supporting 
municipal viability by preserving a reliable tax base should not 
be overlooked. Local governments committed to planning 
resilient communities have a vested interest in calculating how 
much land could or should be dedicated to alternative housing 
types. Land Use Bylaw implementation ought to be a pivotal 
component of a proposed cluster housing approval process. 


ORRSC Periodical   |    Inaugural Edition page 3


Site planning
 
Depending on its design and sensitivity to the local context, 
infill residential development can contribute to, or detract 
from, the character of a neighbourhood. The impacts of a 
specific cluster housing proposal will largely be determined by 
the degree to which the concept exhibits sensitivity in terms 
of siting, scale and appearance. In other words, how cluster 
detached housing fits into a neighbourhood is contingent on 
lot size, 2-dimensional building footprints, and 3-dimensional 
massing. In smaller urban areas where height restrictions 
preclude large multi-storey buildings, a 2-dimensional site plan 
analysis should give a reasonable indication of how a cluster 
detached housing development will ultimately fit on a street. 


Within the cluster-detached framework it is assumed that all 
dwellings are principal dwellings regardless of their 
orientation in relation to the street. Some dwellings will typically 
be removed from direct street access; however, dwellings 
situated at the front of the lot should generally be positioned 
parallel to, and directly engaged with the street (front 
entrances and/or architectural interest facing the street). Ideally, 
the dwellings should be oriented to provide a generous 
exposure to sunlight while retaining privacy. This can be 
achieved through a minimum separation distance between 
dwellings as outlined in the local land use bylaw and/or Safety 
Code requirements. 







Cluster-detached development 
in Oregon City, OR


Oregon City in the United States 
allows cluster detached housing 
(also called cottage housing) in 
their Municipal Code (Land Use 
Bylaw) with the following intent:


• Provide options and 
affordability to 
homeowners


• Support efficient use of 
existing housing stock and 
infrastructure


• Develop housing units that 
support people at a variety of 
stages in the life cycle


• Create new housing units 
that respect the look and 
scale of single-family 
neighbourhoods


Oregon City regulates cluster 
detached housing by setting a 
maximum floor area per dwelling 
of 1000 sq ft, rather than a 
minimum floor area. The City 
also requires a minimum open 
space of 400 sq ft per dwelling 
unit. 50% of the required open 
space per unit must be part of 
the central common area to 
foster a sense of community.


Image source:  
https://www.orcity.org/planning/cluster-
housing


Text source: 
Oregon City Municipal Code – Section 
17.20.010


How cluster-detached dwellings are configured relative to one 
another, and how they interact with the property boundaries, 
parking area, pathways and common spaces will inform the 
design of the drainage facilities. Already a paramount 
consideration for infill development, drainage takes on even 
greater importance for proposals involving multiple dwellings 
on a single lot. An adequate drainage plan should encompass 
the entire property. Larger projects may need to complete 
a storm water management plan. Whether infrastructure 
servicing is provided individually to each dwelling or through 
shared hookups, will depend on the tenure format (rented, 
condominium etc.), but will have to be satisfactory to the 
municipality.


The dwellings should also be configured to be clearly 
delineated and accessible from the street for emergency service 
providers. The typical front and rear yard setback is generally 
sufficient to accommodate this. In terms of the designated 
access for occupants of the dwelling, a laneway is preferred 
where a residential lot abuts an arterial or collector street. 
Where multiple dwellings are developed on a lot, the 
importance of pathways becomes amplified to the aesthetics 
and accessibility of the site, and creating a meaningful sense 
of arrival for visitors. Ultimately, pathways create cohesion and 
position the site more comfortably within the streetscape.


Given that cluster-detached housing proposals will involve a 
greater number of vehicles per lot on average, the presence of 
a laneway is even more important because it offers the ability 
to concentrate the parking area at the rear of the property. It 
can be anticipated that cluster-detached housing may often 
be developed in the form of 1-bedroom dwellings; however, 
prescribing parking requirements for cluster-detached housing 
on a per-bedroom basis will ensure the number of spaces 
remains correlated to the intensity of use irrespective of project 
scale. Moreover, since the shared common areas associated 
with cluster-detached housing offer unique venues for hosting 
private social gatherings, requiring an additional parking space 
per lot to accommodate visitors is a logical standard for this 
housing type. 


Despite their comparatively smaller footprint, compact 
dwellings should not be exempted from needing to be placed 
on a permanent foundation approved under the NBC(AE). At the 
most fundamental level, a permanent foundation helps 
secure the safety and well-being of occupants by protecting 
the structural components of a dwelling against wind loads. 
Foundations also imbue a development with a sense of 
permanency, which can preserve and enhance the existing 
aesthetic of a residential neighborhood. 


page 4 ORRSC Periodical   |    Inaugural Edition







page 5


Tenure


The term tenure is used to describe how land and real property 
are owned, occupied, used, and for how long. A spectrum of 
tenure possibilities exists for housing; however, they all fall 
within the two basic types: freehold and leasehold. Within 
these basic types, cluster developments may be built with a 
single owner who manages and rents the units, or within a co-
ownership arrangement where every resident has their name 
on title, or may be condominiumized. Each type of tenancy 
will have particular ramifications for conditions of approval 
and implementation. Dependent on the developer’s intent, 
certain tenure types may be better suited to particular types of 
inclusionary housing. Whereas a lower income model may be 
best suited to a single owner who manages the units, using co-
ownership models in cluster-detached housing may be uniquely 
suited to accommodating the demand for seniors housing.


Inclusionary housing
 
The physical design of housing should support the continued 
integration of each demographic within the local community. 
As a compact housing type, cluster housing may be particularly 
suited to the space demands associated with ageing and 
affordability. The shared amenity space that typifies cluster-
detached housing has the capacity to become a venue for 
hosting private social gatherings, thereby supporting social 
cohesion in a community as well.


Implementation
 
Local authorities interested in providing opportunities for the 
development of cluster-detached housing may choose to pilot 
a cluster detached housing project under a direct control land 
use district if the use has not been introduced into their land 
use bylaw. Other options include introducing the use into a new 
standard land use district or adding the use to an existing 
multi-unit residential land use district.


Ultimately, cluster-detached housing should be included in land 
use bylaws as a discretionary use. Proposals for cluster-detached 
housing should be accompanied by a conceptual scheme. 
This approach is preferable as it provides the opportunity for 
Administration and the Development Authority to review the 
essential land use elements and consider and mitigate, through 
development permit conditions, expected impacts on the 
adjacent landowners and the community.


ORRSC Periodical   |    Inaugural Edition


For more information on this topic 
contact admin@orrsc.com or visit 
our website at orrsc.com.


This document is protected 
by Copyright and Trademark 
and may not be reproduced or 
modified in any manner, or for 
any purpose, except by written 
permission of the Oldman River 
Regional Services Commission.







phone:  403.329.1344 
toll-free: 844.279.8760 
e-mail: admin@orrsc.com


ORRSC  
3105 16 Ave N 
Lethbridge AB  T1H 5E8








P.O. BOX 600 CROWSNEST PASS, ALBERTA TOK OEO p 403 562-8833 f 403-563-5474  crowsnestpass.com 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


November 26, 2021 
 
 
Old Man Watershed Council 
 
Attention: Shannon 
 
Hello Shannon, 
 
I have been struggling for some time with my position on the OWC board as Representative for “Towns and 
Villages”.  
 
Although I feel that this board can be a particularly important part in the conservation of the Old Man water 
shed, unfortunately, my voice carries absolutely no weight in determining the direction that this board continues 
to go.  
 
In my opinion, the members that make-up this board do not value opinions that differ from theirs and have no 
desire to hear from those that have differing opinions.  
 
As you are aware, I represent “Towns and Villages” and with that I bring a different perspective to the table that 
differs from the AG only focus.  
 
It has been a struggle to make the OWC meetings work for me since they seem to always fall on dates that 
conflict my Municipal commitments. There does not seem to be any consideration for my timetable when it 
comes to setting up the meetings. 
  
I want to thank you for the opportunity be able to sit on this board, participate, and for what I have learned 
about watershed health.  
 
For this I am grateful. So, in closing, effective immediately, please accept my resignation from the OWC Board. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 


 
Mayor Blair Painter 
Municipality of Crowsnest Pass 
403-563-0700 
blair.painter@crowsnestpass.com 



mailto:blair.painter@crowsnestpass.com






VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
December 6, 2021 Minutes 


 
The DRAFT Public Hearing Village of Glenwood Council meeting was held at 
the Glenwood Community Hall on December 6, 2021 scheduled at 7:00 PM. 
 
In attendance: Mayor Linda Allred, Deputy Mayor Milo Holthe, Councillor Sandy 
Lybbert and Councillor Mark Peterson Councillors Steven Law, arrived at 8:38pm. 
 
Officials: Chief Administrative Officer Carrie Kinahan was in attendance.  


 
 


 


 
Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes December 6, 2021 Initials: Page 1 of 3 


 


 
1. Called to Order 
 
 
2. Agenda Adoption 
2021.12.199 
 
 
3. Minutes Adoption 
3 a) 2021.11.18 
2021.12.200 
 
 
 
4. Delegations: 
4 a) Oldman River 
Regional Service 
(ORRSC) Road Closure 
Hailey Winder attended 
2021.12.201 
 
 
 
5.Correspondence: 
For Road Closure  
 
 
 
 
2021.12.202 
 
 
 
6. Items for Discussion: 
6.a) Proposed Cheque 
writing Policy 
2021.12.203                    
 
 
6.b) Proposed Bylaw 
#133-2021 Advanced 
Draft Regional 
Assessment Agreement 
& Bylaw 
2021.12.204 
 
 
 
 
2021.12.205 
 
 
 


Mayor Allred called the December 6, 2021 Regular Council 
Meeting to order at 7:00 PM 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to adopt the agenda as amended, 
changing Thursday to Monday at the top. 


Carried 
 
 
Councillor Peterson MOVED to adopt the minutes of the 
2021.11.18 Regular Council Meeting as presented. 


Carried 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to Recess the public hearing until we 
hear back from Alta Link.  


Carried 
 


 
a) Advertisement sent out 
b) Information Road Closure block 21 & 22 
c) D & J Edwards Letter to the Road closure 
d) Dec.1.21. Smith Development. 


 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to accept the correspondence as 
information. 


Carried 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Peterson MOVED to accept the cheque writing Policy as 
presented.  


Carried 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to approve FIRST reading for Bylaw 
#133-2021 Advanced Regional Assessment Agreement. 
 


Carried 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to approve SECOND Reading for 
Bylaw #133-2021 Advanced Regional Assessment Agreement.  


Carried 
 







 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes December 6, 2021 Initials: Page 2 of 3 
 


2021.12.206 
 
 
 
 
2021.12.207 
 
 
6.c) Draft Bylaw #242-
2021Proposed 
Municipal Utility Bylaw 
2021.12.208 
 
 
 
 
2021.12.209 
 
 
 
2021.12.210 
 
 
 
2021.12.211 
 
 
6.d) Adding Cam and 
Mitch Francis to the 
Recreation Board 
2021.12.212 
 
 
6.e) Removing Deborah 
Otteson from the 
Library Board 
2021.12.213 
 
 
6.f) Adding David 
Rolfson to the Library 
Board 
2021.12.214 
 
6.g) Skating rink -Ice, 
volunteers, cleaning 
bldg.  
2021.12.215 
 
 
 
7. & 8. Council & CAO 
Reports 
Mayor Allred 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe 
 
Councillor Law 
 
Councillor Lybbert 
 
Councillor Peterson 
 


Councillor Peterson MOVED to consider THIRD and Final Reading 
for Bylaw #133-2021 Advanced Regional Assessment Agreement. 


Carried 
 
Mayor Allred MOVED to approve THIRD and Final Reading for 
Bylaw #133-2021 Advanced Regional Assessment Agreement. 


Carried 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to approve FIRST reading for Bylaw 
#242-2021 Municipal Utility Bylaw. 
 


Carried 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to approve SECOND Reading for 
Bylaw #242-2021 Municipal Utility Bylaw.  


Carried 
 
Councillor Peterson MOVED to consider THIRD and Final Reading 
for Bylaw #242-2021 Municipal Utility Bylaw.  


Carried 
 
Mayor Allred MOVED to approve THIRD and Final Reading for 
Bylaw #242-2021 Municipal Utility Bylaw. 


Carried 
 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to approve Cam and Mitch Francis 
to the recreation Board  


Carried 
 
 
 
Mayor Allred MOVED to approve to remove Deborah Otteson from 
the Library Board.  


Carried 
 
 
 
Mayor Allred MOVED to approve David Rolfson to the Library 
Board.  


Carried 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to advertise a job position to help 
Administration in the office and around the Village. To look into 5th 
on 5th for grant help. 


Carried 
 
 


• Nothing to report 
 


• Nothing to report 
 


• Not present at time 
 


• Nothing to report 
 


• ORRSC and none profit meeting  
 







 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes December 6, 2021 Initials: Page 3 of 3 
 


CAO Report 
 
2021.12.216 
 
 
Councillor Law Arrived 
 
 
 
9. Closed Meeting 
2021.12.217 
 
 
 
 
2021.12.218 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2021.12.219 
 
 
 
 
Adjournment 
2021.12.220 
 


• CAO Report presented as outlined in the agenda. 
 
Councillor Peterson MOVED to accept the Councillor & CAO 
reports as information. 


Carried 
8:38 pm 
 
Opened floor for Wayne Layton to talk 
 
 
Councillor Peterson MOVED to close the meeting to the public at 
8:40 PM to discuss Land, Legal or Labour Matters as per Section 
24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to open the meeting to the public at 
9:00 PM. 


Carried 
 
The Regular Council Meeting resumed at 9:05 PM allowing for the 
public to rejoin the meeting. 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to approve to sell the strip of land 
between Block 21 & 22 to Doug Pitcher for $8,000.00. Pending the 
reports from Alta Link and Alberta Transportation. 


Carried 
 
 
Councillor Peterson MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 9:32 PM. 


Carried 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Meeting Chair 


 
_____________________________________________ 


Chief Administrative Officer 
  


 








 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 245-2021 Page 1 of 8 


 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
BYLAW # 245-2021 


 


Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw 
 
BEING A BYLAW OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD, IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, TO ESTABLISH 
SERVICE FEES IN THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD. 
 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and amendments 
thereto, permits the municipality to pass and enforce bylaws for municipal purposes respecting 
the safety, health and welfare of the people and the protection of people and property; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and amendments 
thereto, provides for Council to pass and enforce bylaws for the municipal purposes respecting 
services provided by or on behalf of the municipality; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and amendments 
thereto, provides that a Council, by bylaw, may establish fees; 
 
AND WHEREAS Council recognizes the benefit of adopting a Schedule of Fees; 
 
AND WHEREAS Council deems it expedient from time to time to revise the Schedule of Fees for 
municipal services; 
 
NOW THEREFORE under the authority of the Municipal Government Act, the Council of the 
Village of Glenwood, in the Province of Alberta, enacts as follows: 
 
1. TITLE AND DEFINITIONS: 


 
1.1 Title – This bylaw may be cited as the “Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw”. 


 
1.2 Definitions– In this bylaw unless the context otherwise requires: 


(a) Act – the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and 
amendments thereto; 


(b) Council – the Council of the Village of Glenwood; 
(c) Village – the Village of Glenwood; 
(d) Resident – either an individual or a family that resides within the Village of 


Glenwood; 
(e) Rural Residential – either an individual or a family that does not reside within 


the Village boundaries; 
(f) Rural Commercial – a commercial service located outside Village boundaries; 
(g) Non-Profit – any group or organization that has a registered society number, 


groups without a society number and who provide a valued service to the Village 
may be included subject to the approval of Administration; 


(h) Other – all individuals who do not qualify for the non-profit rate. 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 245-2021 Page 2 of 8 


 


 
 
2. INTENTION: 


 
2.1 It is the intention of the Village Council that each separate provision of this bylaw shall 


be deemed independent of all other provisions herein and it is further the intention of 
the Village Council that if any provision of the bylaw be declared invalid, all other 
provisions thereof shall remain valid and enforceable. 


 
2.2 This bylaw relates to the fees, rates, and charges for the various services provided by 


the Village.  Penalties are not addressed in this bylaw, but are determined by the 
bylaw, policy, or circumstances specifically relevant to the occurrence. 


 
 
3. FEES: 
 


3.1 The user of any Village facility and/or service shall pay the Village the applicable fee, as 
stated in Schedule A which is attached to and forms part of this bylaw 


 
 
4. RESCINDING BYLAW: 
 


4.1 Bylaw 245-2020 is hereby repealed. 
 
 
5. DATE OF COMMENCEMENT: 
 


5.1 Once passed, this bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading. 
 
Read a FIRST time this ____ day of __________, 2021. 
Read a SECOND time this ____ day of __________, 2021. 
Read a THIRD time and finally passed this ____ day of __________, 2021. 
 
 
   
Linda Allred  Carrie Kinahan 
Mayor  Chief Administrative Officer 


 
 
 
 
 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 245-2021 Page 3 of 8 


 


SCHEDULE “A” 
FEES: 
1. ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES FEES: 
 


1.1 Tax Certificate $30.00 
1.2 Tax Arrears List Fee $100.00 
1.3 NSF Cheque $35.00 
1.4 Photocopying/printing (single sided letter or legal-size sheet) $0.25 
1.5 Photocopying/printing (double sided letter or legal-size sheet) $0.45 
1.6 Photocopying/printing (single sided 11x17 size sheet) $0.55 
1.7 Photocopying/printing (double sided 11x17 size sheet) $1.05 
1.8 Color Photocopying/printing (single sided letter or legal-size 


sheet) 
$0.30 


1.9 Color Photocopying/printing (double sided letter or legal-size 
sheet) 


$0.60 


1.10 Color Photocopying/printing (single sided 11x17 size sheet) $1.05 
1.11 Color Photocopying/printing (double sided 11x17 size sheet) $2.05 
1.12 Faxing:  


(a) Per page (outgoing) $0.50 
(b) Per page (incoming) $1.00 
(c) Long distance (additional charge per document) $0.50 


1.13 Title Searches – Personal property only & Lawyer’s for land 
sales. 


$50.00 


1.14 Property Information Request – Lawyers for land sales 
(Assessment & Real Estate Companies) FOIP 


$25.00 


1.15 Regional Assessment Review Board Complaint (Personal 
Property) 


$50.00 


(a) Requesting on someone else’s property                $100.00 
1.16 Composite Assessment Review Board Complaint $50.00 


(a) Requesting on someone else’s property                $100.00 
1.17 Trash Moving Service (per hour)  $150.00 
1.18 Advertising space in village newsletter (per year):  


                     (a) Business Card size $12.00 
(b) Quarter Page size (double business card size) $24.00 
(c) Half Page size $48.00 


1.19 FOIP Request Fee:  
(a) Initial Request Fee concerning your personal information $5.00 
(b) Initial Request Fee for all other requests  $30.00 
(c) Other information request:  


(i) For searching for, locating and retrieving a record: $10.00 per ¼hr 
or part thereof 


(ii) For producing an electronic copy of an electronic 
record: 


$10.00 per ¼hr 
or part thereof 


(iii) For producing a black and white paper copy of a 
record (per single sided sheet): 


$0.25 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 245-2021 Page 4 of 8 


 


(iv) For producing a colour paper copy of a record (per 
single sided sheet): 


$0.30 


(v) For supervising the examination of a record: $10.00 per ¼hr 
or part thereof 


 
2. BUSINESS LICENCING: 
 


2.1 Business Licence (Yearly):  
(a) Village Only - voluntary $20.00 
(b) Regional – voluntary                                                                                Additional 


*Must purchase village license as well                                                                                       $80.00 
 
3. BYLAW ENFORCEMENT: 
 


3.1 Keeping of Animals deemed Not Allowed (Animal Control 
Bylaw) 


$100.00 


3.2 Keeping of Animals above the Allowable Limit (Animal Control 
Bylaw) 


$50.00 


3.3 Animal at Large (Animal Control Bylaw) $50.00 
3.4 Failure to clean Animal Refuse (Animal Control Bylaw) $50.00 
3.5 Public Nuisance (Animal Control Bylaw) $50.00 
3.6 Land Use Bylaw Enforcement (per occurrence) $50.00 


 
4. COMMUNITY SERVICES – CEMETERY: 
 


4.1 Cemetery Marker Fee    - Fee for Village to place a marker on 
an unmarked plot. 


$50.00 


4.2 Plot Purchase Price:  
(a) Resident Interment* $120.00 


 *Resident means a resident, or former resident of Cardston County or a municipality within 
Cardston County, and their spouse or adult interdependent partner, children, grand-
children, parents, and the parents of the spouse or adult interdependent partner.  Proof of 
relationship may be required at Administration’s discretion. 


(b) Resident Infant Interment $0.00 
(c) Other Interment $2,500.00 


 
5. ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES: 
 


5.1 Bulk Water:  
(a) Per 10 Imperial gallons or part thereof                    $1.00 
(b) Per 50 imperial gallons or part thereof $1.50 
(c) Per 250 imperial gallons $5.00 
(d) Per 500 imperial gallons $10.00 
(e) Per 1000 imperial gallons $16.00 


 
 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 245-2021 Page 5 of 8 


 


5.2 Lot driveway approach installation: One per title 
*The right and responsibility of installation for any and all property approaches is solely 
the Village’s. 
(a) Initial installation – (one per title) $0.00 
(b) Culvert required (maximum 300 MM diameter x 7 


meters long provided) 
$1,500.00 


(c) Culvert not required $1,000.00 
(d) No ditch present property at grade with roadway (+/- 


0.5ft or 0.15m) 
$500.00 


 
6. MUNICIPAL UTILITY RATES: 
 


6.1 Rates – per monthly billing base standard rate (billed bi-monthly): 
 


                   a.  Residential* / Commercial:                                             2022                
Water                                                                         $31.00             
Sewer                                                                         $14.00             
Solid Waste                                                               $8.00                
Irrigation (per acre)                                                 $8.00                


* These rates are for single-detached residential units. For multi-unit residential, each unit gets billed at these 
rates. 
                  b.  Industrial:                                                                            2022                


Water Flat Charge                                                   $124.00            
                               Water Consumption per Imperial Gallon            $0.003          


Sewer                                                                         $56.00           
Solid Waste                                                              $32.00           
Irrigation (per acre)                                                $32.00            


                  c. Church (Institutional):                                                       2022                
Water                                                                        $62.00 
Sewer                                                                        $28.00 
Solid Waste                                                              $48.00 
Irrigation (per acre)                                                $16.00 


                   d. School (Institutional):                                                      2022               
                                Water                                                                       $124.00 
                                Sewer                                                                       $56.00 
                                Solid Waste                                                             $32.00 
                                Irrigation (per acre)                                               $32.00 


c. Rural Residential:                                                              2022                
 (Charge will include flat charge plus gallons used) 


                         Water Flat Charge      (With a Meter)                           $45.00 
                         Water Consumption per Imperial Gallon                    $0.0045 


(4.54 litres)                                         *When water meter installed. 
d. Rural Residential:                                                              2022                


Water Flat Charge      (Without a Meter)                    $70.00 
 
 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 245-2021 Page 6 of 8 


 


e. Rural Commercial:                                                             2022                
(Water charge will include flat charge plus gallons used) 


Water Flat Charge                                                   $161.00 
Water Consumption per Imperial Gallon            $0.0045                                              
(4.54 Litres) 
a. New Main Connection Fee – per individual service: 


*If Main adjacent to property. 
**From Municipal Utility Bylaw # 242-2021 Section 3.2:  Any property Owner who desires a 
Water and/or Sewer Service Connection, from the Village, shall apply to the Administrator 
and pay the required Service Connection fee(s) as indicated in Schedule “A” before work on 
either Connection commences. 


i. Water Service Install - inside Village boundaries $2,000.00 
ii. Water Service Install - inside Village boundaries 


(Directional drilling will be mandatory when 
installing any services where there is an asphalt 
road surface. A quote will be provided to 
property owner before work is scheduled) 


*Any damages to the asphalt road will be an additional 
charge 


*$2,000.00  


iii. Water Service Install - outside Village 
boundaries 


*or Cost plus 10% (whichever is greater) 


         * $2,500.00  
 


iv. Sewer Service Install - inside Village Boundaries $2,250.00 
v. Irrigation Service Install (no roadwork) - inside 


Village Boundaries 
$1,125.00 


vi. Irrigation Service Install (roadwork required) - 
inside Village Boundaries 


$2,250.00 


b. Water Connection/Disconnection Fee – per connection/disconnection: 
*If the Water connection/disconnection is a direct result of an Emergency the associated fee 
will be waived. 


i. Due to any reason or non-payment of account  $100.00 
ii. Due to customer request- $30.00 


c. End of year transfer of utility arrears to taxes $20.00 
 
7. OPERATIONAL SERVICES: 
 


7.1 Equipment Rental per hour rate or part thereof:                          (minimum charge is 
½ hour): 
*Operated by village staff and subject to schedule availability. 
(a) Grader $200.00 
(b) Large Tractor $150.00 
(c) Large Tractor with mower $175.00 
(d) Packer $125.00 
(e) Small Tractor with mower $125.00 
(f) Skid steer with or without Attachment $125.00 
(g) Weed Whipping (for non compliance) $75.00 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 245-2021 Page 7 of 8 


 


 
*ANY AFTER HOURS CALL IN’S WILL BE BILLED AT TIME AND HALF FOREMANS RATE* 
 
8. LAND USE, PLANNING & SUBDIVISION: 
 


8.1 Letter or Certificate of Compliance $50.00 
8.2 Development Application Fee – single unit dwelling $50.00 
8.3 Development Application Fee – garage, deck, carport, shed, 


accessory building, storage container, etc. 
$15.00 


8.4 Development Application Fee – modular/manufactured homes $50.00 
8.5 Development Application Fee –multi-unit dwellings (per unit), 


special residential uses including half-way houses, group homes, 
day care, nursing homes, etc. 


$100.00 


8.6 Development Application Fee – Commercial/Industrial $200.00 
8.7 Development Application Fee – all public service buildings $200.00 
8.8 Request to convene a special meeting of the Subdivision and 


Development Appeal Board (SDAB) or the Municipal Planning 
Commission (MPC) 


$300.00 


8.9 Regional Subdivision & Development Appeal Board Fee (of which 
$150 will be refunded if appeal is successful) 


$300.00 


8.10 Printed copy of Land Use Bylaw $50.00 
8.11 Land Use Bylaw Amendment Fee (per title and or if at the same 


time of application fee can be cost shared) 
$500.00 


8.12 Where a development has been commenced prior to a 
development application being approved, or when a stop order 
has been issued pursuant to the Land Use Bylaw, the fee for any 
subsequent application for that development shall be twice the 
amount specified in this bylaw for that use. 


 


8.13 Any outstanding fees or service charges will be added to the 
appropriate tax account 


 


 
9. RECREATIONAL SERVICES:                                                                                                                    


All Rentals must be paid in full before day of rental. We will not hold the date until Payment 
is made in full. 


 
9.1 Bleachers:  


(a) Rental er day $100.00 
(b) Damage Deposit - refundable  $100.00 


           9.2    Glenwood Community Hall:  
(c) Rental per day (plus extra fee as outlined in the current 


COVID19 policy#08-2020) 
$100.00 


(d) Damage Deposit - refundable  $100.00 
(e) Rental per day (For 6 or more dates in one booking) $50.00 


per date booked 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 245-2021 Page 8 of 8 


 


(f) Rental (Non-Profit Community Group) – If the 
Community Hall is not cleaned. There will be a fee in the 
future. 


$0.00 


9.3   Village Park Kitchen:  
(a) Rental per day $100.00 
(b) Damage Deposit - refundable  $100.00 


 
     0  
 





